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Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2002 was a challenging year across all financial markets. Continued economic malaise, corporate scandals, terrorism
threats and falling equity prices weighed heavily on the broad economy. The commercial real estate finance markets
were also in a state of flux. Concern about credit performance in the context of a slowing economy created significant
challenges, but improved liquidity created attractive opportunities for the Company.

The total return of the Company’s common stock was 11.9% for the calendar year ending 2002. This compares
favorably to the returns of the various equity indices for the same period. The Company believes this performance
reflects a renewed interest in stocks that have consistent earnings, maintain stable dividends and can act quickly in
challenging environments to take advantage of opportunities as they arise. Just as importantly, the economic return
of the Company during 2002 (change in net asset value plus dividends paid) was 22.3%, reflecting the decline in
interest rates, the tightening of credit spreads and the strong dividend paying power of the Company’s portfolio.

During 2002, the Company navigated a challenging economic environment focusing on opportunities to improve
financial stability. As interest rates fell, the Company moved quickly to close a secured debt offering of $419 million
face value which comprised a significant part of its commercial real estate securities portfolio. The terms of the
issuance were among the most favorable for a commercial real estate debt platform. In December of 2002, the
Company built on that success with another issuance of $281 million face value of debt. The effect of the two
transactions was to match fund on a non-recourse basis 91.3% of the total commercial real estate securities owned
by the Company. The match funding to term eliminates the liquidity risk and short-term rate risk of holding these
securities over the long-term.

These transactions firmly established the Company as a premier issuer of secured debt throughout world capital markets,
creating an opportunity to issue debt at favorable rates that can lock in attractive spreads for future asset acquisitions.

Credit performance of the Company’s loan and commercial mortgage backed securities portfolios continues to be

in line with the Company’s expectations. The commercial loan portfolio experienced paydowns at par of $75 million,
providing an average realized return of 16.5% with no losses. Delinquencies in our commercial mortgage backed
securities portfolio reached 2.08% at the end of the first quarter 2002 and decreased to 1.87 % at year end. This
performance was surprisingly stable given the generally negative tone in the economy. Despite the 2002 performance,
we expect 2003 delinquencies and realized losses to rise. Within the next twelve months, the Company expects to
re-underwrite a significant amount of its 1998 vintage CMBS portfolio to update our loss assumptions in the context
of the current economic environment and the seasoning of the portfolio. The Company remains confident in its
underwriting processes, but we expect 2003 to test loss assumptions throughout the industry.

As we look forward into 2003 several important challenges remain. First, a persistently weak economic environment
negatively affects the performance of properties underlying our commercial real estate debt portfolio, and this could
increase our actual losses above expected losses and therefore lower the yield on our portfolio. Second, a weak
economic environment has created the related challenges of low nominal interest rates and intense competition for yield
among investors. Over time, these challenges can cause the Company’s earnings to decline due to a lower yield on the
existing portfolio and lower yield on reinvestment. In our view, the best way to meet these challenges is to continue to
diversify our portfolio and grow our balance sheet accretively. Our shareholders can be assured that we will explore
opportunities to grow when and if we believe these opportunities will increase earnings and strengthen dividends.

Our core belief remains that a carefully underwritten, properly financed portfolio of high yield real estate debt and
securities will provide attractive absolute and risk adjusted returns for investors. We believe that these returns could
in many instances prove to be supertor to those of owning the underlying real estate equity. The opportunity for
Company shareholders to participate in the returns of real estate debt with the liquidity of a publicly traded stock
represents a relatively unique opportunity in the capital markets.

We remain optimistic about the Company’s long-term growth potential and appreciate your continued commitment
and support.

Hugh R. Frater
Chief Executive Officer
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

All dollar figures expressed herein are expressed in thousands,
except share or per share amounts.

General

The Company's primary long-term objective 1s to distribute consistent dividends supported
by operating earnings. The Company considers its operating earnings (“Operating Earnings”)
to be net income available to common stockholders as determined under generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) before gains and losses,

changes in accounting pronouncements and Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(SFAS) 133 hedging adjustments.

Operating Earnings are primarily maintained by consistent credit performance on the
Company’s investments and stability of the Company’s liability structure. In 2002, the
Company established a strong long-term secured debt issuance platform through two
Collateralized Debt Obligation (“CDQO”) offerings. These transactions effectively match
funded a significant part of the Company’s long-term credit sensitive Commercial Mortgage
Backed Securities (“CMBS”) and Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) portfolios at attractive
terms. In 2003 the Company expects to redeploy capital raised from these transactions combined
with additional equity capital raised from the Company’s strategic common stock issuance
program. This is expected to lead to the accretion of both earnings and book value

per share as well as to increase diversification of credit exposure.

The Company establishes its dividend by analyzing the long-term sustainability of Operating
Earnings given existing market conditions and the current composition of its portfolio. This
includes an analysis of the Company’s credit loss assumptions, general level of interest rates,
realized gains and losses and projected hedging costs. These factors are generally beyond the
Company’s control so there is no certainty that dividends will remain at current levels. During
calendar year 2002, the Company distributed $1.40 per share in the form of fully taxable divi-
dends on a quarterly basis.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded $1.18 of GAAP earnings per
share and $1.67 of Operating Earnings per share. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the
Company recorded $1.35 of GAAP earnings per share and $1.44 of Operating Earnings per
share. The table below reconciles GAAP earnings per share with Operating Earnings per share
for the four years ended December 31, 2002:

NeadEnded 1,

2000 411599
Operating Earnings $1.67 $1.44 $1.19 $1.18
Gain/(loss) on sale of securities available for sale 0.24 0.20 0.12 (0.02)
Gain/(loss) on securities classified as held for trading (0.64)* (0.07) (0.02) 0.10
Foreign currency gain/(loss), hedge ineffectiveness &
incentive fee attributable to other gains (0.01) (0.02) (0.01) -
Loss on impairment (0.22) (0.15) - -
Cumulative transition adjustment - SFAS 133 - (0.05) - -
Cumulative transition adjustment - SFAS 142 0.14 - - -
GAAP Net Income per share $1.18 $135 $128 $126 |

*Includes hedges




Commercial Real Estate Securities Portfolio Activity

The Company continues to increase its investments in commercial real estate securities.

Commeércial real estate securities include CMBS and investment grade REIT debt. During
the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company increased total assets in this sector by 97%
from $453,953 to $894,345. This increase was attributable to the execution of the two CDO

offerings that provided an attractive match funding financing platform for these assets.

The table below is a summary of the Company’s investments by asset class since inception:

Camying Valne £s of Dasemier 31,

ji94q 1998
Amau % % % Amewm % Mmoo %

Commercial real
estate securities $ 894345  36.1% $ 453,953 209% $412435 426% $272733 422% $273,018 409%

Commercial real

estate loans™ 73,929 3.0 150,954 6.9 163,541 169 69,611 10.7 35,581 53
Residential mortgage

backed securities 1,506,450 60.9 1,570,009 722 337,222 349 304,462 47.1 192,050 288
U.S. Treasury

securities - - - - 54,043 56 - - 166,835 250
Total $2,474,724 100.0% $2,174916 1000% $967,241 1000% $646,806 100.0% $ 667,484 100.0%

‘Includes real estate joint ventures

The Company’s first CDO transaction was issued as Anthracite CDO 2002 CIBC-1 and closed
on May 15, 2002 (“CDO I”). The Company issued $403,633 of debt secured by a portfolio of
commercial real estate securities with a total par of $515,880 and an adjusted purchase price of
$431,995. On December 10, 2002, the Company issued another $280,607 of debt through
Anthracite CDO 2002-2 (“CDO II”) secured by a separate portfolio of commercial real estate
securities with a par of $313,444 and an average adjusted purchase price of $289,197. Included
in CDO II was a ramp facility that will be utilized to fund the purchase of an additional
$50,000 of par of below investment grade CMBS by September 30, 2003. Use of the ramp
facility will permit the Company to increase the net interest spread of the transaction by adding
high yielding CMBS to the asset portfolio. The Company retained 100% of the equity of both

CDOs and is recording the transaction on its books as a financing.

Colleromel es o December 31, 2002 Daiif & of Desemier 3. 2002
Biichiase IAduSte ISS{ie] AVETAE Nel
Prize el Brice Bost @ Famds® Sires
CDO1 $ 435,693 8.81% $ 403,983 7.21% 1.60%
CDOII 289,197 7.59% 280,607 ¥ 5.73% 1.86%
Total ** $ 724,890 8.32% $ 684,590 6.60% 1.72%

* Weighted Average Cost of Funds is the current cost of funds plus hedging expenses.

#% The total market value of the assets contributed to the two CDOs at December 31, 2002 was $726,769, an
additional $50,000 of par can be contributed through the ramp facility. Securities contributed at a discounted
market value would generate excess cash in the amount of the discount.

“** The company did not sell $22,850 of par of CDO II debt rated BBB- and BB




Assets contributed to the CDOs were a combination of below investment grade CMBS
(rated below BBB-), investment grade CMBS (rated BBB- to BB+) and investment grade

unsecured REIT debt. CMBS securities rated B- or lower were not contributed into either

CDO. The Company did not contribute certain other below investment grade CMBS rated
BB+ down to B. Other securities that were not contributed to either CDO include a
portfolio of AAA rated CMBS IO securities and other CMBS related securities.

The following table details the par, fair market value, adjusted purchase price and loss
adjusted yield of the Company’s commercial real estate securities outside of the CDOs as
of December 31, 2002:

(Falr Al sted Less

By Valie) Brice) Biicel i) e ld]
CMBS rated BB+ to B $ 89,958 $ 59,110 65.71 § 72,937 81.08 9.0%
CMBS rated B- or lower 280,987 83,386 29.68 116,528 4147 12.6%
CMBS 10s* 935,678 43,634 4.66 42,590 4.55 9.5%
Other CMBS 4,000 3,262 81.55 3211 80.28 7.0%
Total $1,310,623 $189,392 14.45 $235.266 17.95 10.83%

*CMBS interest only securities (*IOs”)
Below Investinent Grade CMBS and Underlying Loan Performance

The Company divides its below investment grade CMBS investment activity into two
portfolios: its seven trusts in which it owns the first loss position and as a result controls

the workout process (“Controlling Class”) and other below investment grade CMBS. The
distinction between the two is in the controlling class rights. Controlling class rights allow the
Company to control the workout and/or disposition of defaults that occur in the underlying
loans. These securities absorb the first losses realized in the underlying loan pools. Other below
investment grade CMBS have no right to control the workout and/or disposition of underlying

loan defaults, however they are not the first to absorb losses in the underlying pools.

During 2002, the Company acquired $199,840 of par of other below investment grade
CMBS and did not acquire any new Controlling Class securities. The Company continues
to take a cautious approach to the real estate credit markets and favored CMBS with greater
credit protection rather than being in a first loss position. The total par of the Company’s
other below investment grade CMBS at December 31, 2002 was $261,157; the total credit
protection, or subordination level, of this portfolio is 6.50%. The total par of the Company’s
Controlling Class CMBS at December 31, 2002 was $690,052 and the total par of the loans
underlying these securities was $9,616,797. The non-rated security is the first to absorb
underlying loan losses until its par is completely written off. The coupon payment on the
non-rated security can also be reduced for special servicer fees charged to the trust.

The next highest rated security in the structure will then generally be downgraded to
non-rated and becomes the first to absorb losses and expenses from that point on. 5



The Company’s investment in its Controlling Class CMBS by credit rating category at
December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Fafe Rjusted *

Merte Ml Doler  SuberdimEden |
Veihe “rioe i Priae ] ;

Pai Riice] Biicel el
$ 65,159 56,543 86.78 $ 56,181 86.22 8.26%
58,170 48,674 83.68 48,560 83.48 6.73%
84,972 59,415 69.92 68,623 80.76 5.48%

32,329 21,533 66.61 23,173 71.68 3.72%

168,435 99,815 59.26 125,197 74.33 3.35%
87,231 40,335 46.24 53,415 61.23 2.32%
70,407 17,715 25.16 28,942 41.11 1.46%
NR 123,349 25,335 20.54 34,171 27.70 n/a
Total $ 690,052 $ 369,365 53.53 $ 438,262 63.51

The Company’s investment in its Controlling Class CMBS by credit rating category at
December 31, 2001 is as follows:

\iankel Dollag |
BB+ $ 64,042 $ 47,351 73.94 $ 51,547 80.49 8.88%
BB 39,087 28,176 72.09 33,820 86.52 6.76%
BB- 84,972 52,732 62.06 67,721 79.70 5.36%
B+ 32,329 19,274 59.62 22,579 69.84 3.64%
B 168,435 91,022 54.04 122,948 72.99 3.31% i
B- 87,231 37,980 43.54 52,172 59.81 2.28% :
CCC 70,407 17,611 25.01 28,624 40.66 0.90%
NR 126,010 25,556 20.28 34,728 27.56 n/a i
Total $ 672,513 $ 319,702 47.54 $ 414,139 61.58

During 2002, the par for one of the Company’s Controlling Class CMBS was written down
by the servicer in the amount of $2,388. This reduction in par does not affect the Company’s
loss adjusted yield on this asset. During the year ended 2002 certain delinquent loans in
CMAC 98-C2 caused a temporary shortfall of interest available to pay the non-rated security
which shortfall may not be recoverable. The Company expects the coupon to resume during
the first half of 2003. These types of shortfalls are expected to occur in non-rated CMBS
classes and therefore the Company currently does not believe this is an impairment that
requires a change in loss assumptions. Further delinquencies and losses may cause the short-
fall to continue and cause the Company to conclude that a change in loss adjusted yield is
required along with a significant write down of the adjusted purchase price through the
income statement according to EITF 99-20. Also during 2002, the loan pools were paid
down by $128,344. Pay down proceeds are distributed to the highest rated CMBS class first

and reduce the percent of total underlying collateral represented by each rating category.




For all of the Company’s Controlling Class securities, the Company assumes that 1.88% of

the remaining current aggregate loan balance will not be recoverable. This has not changed
from the year ended 2001. This estimate was developed based on an analysis of individual
loan characteristics and prevailing market conditions at the time of origination. This loss
estimate equates to cumulative expected defaults of approximately 5% over the life of the
portfolio and an average assumed loss severity of 37.6% of the defaulted loan balance. All
estimated workout expenses including special servicer fees are included in these assump-
tions. Actual results could differ materially from these estimated results. See Item 7A -
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for a discussion of how

differences between estimated and actual losses could affect Company earnings.

The Company monitors credit performance on a monthly basis and debt service coverage
ratios on a quarterly basis. Using these and other statistics, the Company maintains watch
lists for loans that are delinquent thirty days or more and for loans that are not delinquent
but have issues that the Company feels require close monitering. The Company plans to
perform a detailed re-underwriting of a substantial number of the underlying loans supporting
its Controlling Class CMBS within the next 18 months. Upon completion, the Company
may determine that its GAAP yields and book values need 1o be adjusted.

The Company considers delinquency information from the Lehman Brothers Conduit Guide
to be the most relevant measure of credit performance and market conditions applicable to
its Controlling Class CMBS holdings. The year of issuance, or vintage year, is important,

as older loan pools will tend to have more delinquencies than newly underwritten loans.
The Company owns Controlling Class CMBS issued in 1998, 1999 and 2001. Comparable
delinquency statistics referenced by vintage year as a percentage of par outstanding as of
December 31, 2002 are shown in the table below:

1998 $ 7,960,108 2.12% 1.87% ‘l
1999 735,625 151% 1.24%

2001 921,064 0.00% 0.58%

Total $ 9,616,797 1.87%* 1.28%*

* Weighted average based on respective collateral

Morgan Stanley also tracks CMBS loan delinquencies for the specific CMBS transactions
with more than $200,000 of collateral and that have been seasoned for at least one year.

This seasoning criterion will generally adjust for the lower delinquencies that occur in newly
originated collateral. As of December 31, 2001, the Morgan Stanley index indicated that
delinquencies on 174 securitizations was 1.85%, and as of December 31, 2002, this same
index indicated that delinquencies on 204 securitizations was 2.01%. See Item 7A -
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks” for a detailed discussion

of how delinquencies and loan losses affect the Company.




Delinquencies on the Company’s CMBS collateral as a percentage of principal increased in
line with expectations. The Company’s aggregate delinquency experience is consistent with

comparable data provided in the Lehman Brothers Conduit Guide.

Of the 36 delinquent loans shown on the chart in Note 2 of the consolidated financial
statements, one was delinquent due to technical reasons, six were Real Estate Owned (REO)
and being marketed for sale, three were in foreclosure, and the remaining 26 loans were in
some form of workout negotiations. Aggregate realized losses of $6,141 were realized in the
fourth quarter of 2002. This brings cumulative net losses realized to $9,149, which is 5.1%
of total estimated losses. These losses include special servicer and other workout expenses.
This experience to date is in line with the Company's loss expectations. Realized losses are
expected to increase on the underlying loans as the portfolio ages. Special servicer expenses

are also expected to increase as portfolios mature and US economic activity remains weak.

The Company manages its credit risk through disciplined underwriting, diversification,
active monitoring of loan performance and exercise of its right to control the workout
process as early as possible. The Company maintains diversification of credit exposures
through its underwriting process and can shift its focus in future investments by adjusting
the mix of loans in subsequent acquisitions. The comparative profiles of the loans underlying
the Company’s CMBS by property type as of December 31, 2002 and for the two prior

years is as follows:

T2mime 128701 2B/
Legn % @ % @f % @l
TR Baldncel latal fiatall Balaneel jletal
Multifamily $ 3,302,387 34.4% $ 3,432,708 34.6% $3,176,333  34.8%
Rerail 2,704,952 28.1 2,763,045 27.9 2429959 266
Office 1,809,519 18.8 1,866,338 18.8 1,724,130 189
Lodging 834,854 8.7 853,935 8.6 861,094 9.4
Industrial 589,044 6.1 604,852 6.1 547,037 6.0
Healthcare 346,298 3.6 353,697 36 367,989 4.0
Parking 29,743 0.3 35,225 0.4 30,608 0.3
Total $ 9,616,797 100% $ 9,909,800 100% $9,137,150 100%

As of December 31, 2002, the fair market value of the Company’s holdings of CMBS is
$60,738 lower than the adjusted cost for these securities. Except for the writedown of the

FMACT bond, this decline in the value of the investment portfolio represents market valua-

tion changes and 1s not due to actual credit experience or credit expectations. The adjusted

purchase price of the Company’s Controlling Class CMBS portfolio as of December 31, 2002

represents approximately 64% of its par amount. The market value of the Company’s

Controlling Class CMBS portfolio as of December 31, 2002 represents approximately 54%

of its par amount. As the portfolio matures, the Company expects to recoup the unrealized

loss, provided that the credit losses experienced are not greater than the credit losses assumed

in the purchase analysis. As of December 31, 2002, the Company believes there has been no

material deterioration in the credit quality of its portfolio below original expectations.




As the portfolio matures and expected losses occur, subordination levels of the lower rated

classes of a CMBS investment will be reduced. This may cause the lower rated classes to be
downgraded which would negatively affect their market value and therefore the Company’s
net asset value. Reduced market value will negatively affect the Company’s ability to finance
any such securities that are not financed through a CDO or similar matched funding vehicle.
In some cases, securities held by the Company may be upgraded to reflect seasoning of the

underlying collateral and thus would increase the market value of the securities.

The Company’s GAAP income for its CMBS securities is computed based upon a yield
which assumes credit losses would occur. The yield to compute the Company’s taxable
income does not assume there would be credit losses, as a loss can only be deducted for tax
purposes when it has occurred. As a result, for the years 1998 through December 31, 2002,
the Company’s GAAP income accrued on its CMBS assets was approximately $19,650

lower than the taxable income accrued on the CMBS assets.

The FMACT 1998-BA class B security continues to perform poorly. Based on the information
provided by the trustee, as of December 16, 2002, of the 71 borrowers in the loan pool
underlying this security, there are 8 borrowers with loans in the amount of $36,741 which
are in default, 10 borrowers with loans in the amount of $23,722 which are delinquent, and
53 borrowers with loans in the amount of $135,292 which are current. During the fourth
quarter of 2002, the servicer of the underlying loans recouped principal and interest
advances made in prior years. This action resulted, at least temporarily, in insufficient

cash being available to make the payments required on the Company’s class B security.

Based on the delinquencies and defaults in the underlying pools, and the missed payments
during the fourth quarter of 2002 as described above, the Company revised its estimated
future cash flows from this investment. Accordingly, in accordance with EITF 99-20, the
Company determined that its investment was impaired and wrote down the adjusted
purchase price of this security by $10,273 to its estimated fair value and increased the GAAP
yield from 7.69% to a market yield for a security of this credit quality, estimated to be 20%.
These figures incorporate the assumption that an additional $31,203 of losses will be experi-
enced by the underlying pools and an estimate of another 1.0% of losses per year over the
remaining life of the trust. This security was part of the CORE Cap acquisition in May of
2000 and was rated AA at that time. This security is currently rated D by Standard & Poors
and CC by Fiwch Ratings.

Commercial Real Estate Loan Activity

The Company’s commercial real estate loan portfolio generally emphasizes larger transactions
located in metropolitan markets, as compared to the typical loan in the CMBS portfolio.
There are no delinquencies in the Company’s commercial real estate loan portfolio, which

is relatively small and heterogeneous. The Company has determined it is not necessary to

establish a loan loss reserve.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s commercial real estate loan portfolio by
property type as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

Feansjauistanding Weighied Average Cexpen
Desemiber 21, Deeemier 31, Desemier 37,

Propery Type Amount % Amount %o Amount % 2002 2001 2000

Office $ 69,431 '$ 86,863 57.6% |$ 98,454 9.5% 9.3% 13.8%

Multifamily 30130 40 | 150000 99 | 15000] o 3.6% | 200% | 20.0%

Retail 3,500 4.6 - - } - 4.6% -% -%
Hotel - - 49,091} 325 ‘ 50,087 -

Total $ 75944 { 100.0% $ 150,954 100.0% |$ 163,541

Recent Events

Included in CDO 1II was a ramp facility that will be utilized to fund the purchase of $50,000
of par of below investment grade CMBS. On March 14, 2003, the Company purchased
$78,027 par of securities in CSFB 2003-CPN1. Of this purchase, $30,000 par will be
contributed into the ramp facility for CDO II, and $48,027 will be held outside of CDO II.

On March 6, 2003, the unaffiliated directors approved an extension of the management
agreement (the “Management Agreement”), dated March 27, 1998, between the Company
and BlackRock Financial Management, Inc. (the “Manager”) from its expiration of March
27, 2003 for one year through March 31, 2004. The terms of the renewed agreement are
similar to the prior agreement except for the incentive fee calculation which would provide
for a rolling four-quarter high watermark rather than a quarterly calculation. In determining
the rolling four-quarter high watermark, the Company would calculate the incentive fee
based upon the current and prior three quarters’ net income (the “Yearly Incentive Fee”).
The Manager would be paid an incentive fee in the current quarter if the Yearly Incentive
Fee is greater than what was paid to the Manager in the prior three quarters cumulatively.
The Company will phase in the rolling four-quarter high watermark commencing with

the second quarter of 2003. Calculation of the incentive fee will be based on GAAP and
adjusted to exclude special one-time events pursuant to changes in GAAP accounting
pronouncements after discussion between the Manager and the unaffiliated directors. The
incentive fee threshold did not change. The high watermark will be based on the existing
incentive fee hurdle, which provides for the Manager to be paid 25% of the amount of
earnings (calculated in accordance with GAAP) per share that exceeds the product of the
adjusted issue price of the Company’s common stock per share ($11.39 as of December 31,
2002) and the greater of 9.5% or 350 basis points over the ten-year Treasury note.

On February 6, 2003, the Company funded a capital call notice from Carbon Capital, Inc.
(“Carbon”) in the amount of $2,680. This was used by Carbon to acquire a mezzanine loan

secured by ownership interests in an entity that owns a mixed-use development.




In January 2003, the par for two of the Company’s Controlling Class CMBS was written

down by the servicer in the aggregate amount of $4,284. This reduction in par does not
affect the Company’s loss adjusted yield on this asset.

In January 2003, the Company’s $200,000 financing facility with Merrill Lynch Mortgage

Capital, Inc. expired pursuant to its terms. There was no balance owing at the expiration.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based
on the amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In preparing the financial statements,
management is required to make various judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The following is a summary of
the Company’s accounting policies that are the most affected by management judgments,

estimates and assumptions:
Securities Available for Sale

The Company has designated its investments in mortgage-backed securities, mortgage-related
securities and certain other securities as available for sale. Securities available for sale are carried
at estimated fair value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Many of these
investments are relatively illiquid, and their values must be estimated by management. In
making these estimates, management generally utilizes market prices provided by dealers
who make markets in these securities, but may, under certain circumstances, adjust these
valuations based on management’s judgment. Changes in the valuations do not affect the
Company’s reported income or cash flows, but impact stockholders’ equity and, accordingly,

book value per share.

Management must also assess whether unrealized losses on securities reflect a decline in
value which is other than temporary, and, accordingly, write the impaired security down to
its fair value, through earnings. Significant judgment of management is required in this
analysis which includes but is not limited to making assumptions regarding the collectibility

of the principal and interest, net of related expenses, on the underlying loans.

Income on these securities is recognized based upon a number of assumptions that are subject
to uncertainties and contingencies. Examples of these include, among other things, the rate
and uming of principal payments (including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations),
the pass-through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations. Additional factors that may
affect the Company’s reported interest income on its mortgage securities include interest

payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans, and the timing
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and magnitude of credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the securities that are a
result of the general condition of the real estate market (including competition for tenants and
their related credit quality) and changes in market rental rates. These uncertainties and contin-

gencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future events which may alter the assumptions.

The Company adopted EITF 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on
Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets” on April 1, 2001.
The Company recognizes interest income from its purchased beneficial interests in securi-
tized financial interests (“beneficial interests”) (other than beneficial interests of high credit
quality, sufficiently collateralized to ensure that the possibility of credit loss is remote, or that
cannot contractually be prepaid or otherwise settled in such a way that the Company would
not recover substantially all of its recorded investment) in accordance with this guidance.

Accordingly, on a quarterly basis, when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the

cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience,
the Company calculates a revised yield based on the current amortized cost of the investment

(including any other-than-temporary impairments recognized to date) and the revised cash

flows. The revised yield is then applied prospectively to recognize interest income.

Prior to April 1, 2001, the Company recognized income from these beneficial interests using

the effective interest method, based on an anticipated yield over the projected life of the security.
Changes in the anticipated yields were calculated due to revisions in the Company’s estimates
of future and actual credit losses and prepayments. Changes in anticipated yields resulting
from credit loss and prepayment revisions were recognized through a cumulative catch-up
adjustment at the date of the change which reflected the change in income from the security
from the date of purchase through the date of change in the anticipated yield. The new yield
was then used prospectively to account for interest income. Changes in yields from reduced

estimates of losses were recognized prospectively.

For other mortgage-backed and related mortgage securities, the Company accounts for interest
income under SFAS 91, using the effective yield method which includes the amortization of

discount or premium arising at the time of purchase and the stated or coupon interest payments.

As a result of the pending closing of CDO I, at the end of the first quarter 2002 the Company
reclassified all of its subordinated CMBS on the balance sheet from available-for-sale to held-

to-maturity. The effect of this reclassification changed the accounting basis of these securities,

prospectively, from mark to market to adjusted cost. However, in accordance with SFAS 133,
the interest rate swap agreements entered into by the Company to hedge the variable rate
exposure of the debt of CDO I are required to be presented on the balance sheet at their fair
market value. Accordingly, the Company has determined that at December 31, 2002, and
going forward, it will classify all of its subordinated CMBS as available-for-sale securities and
record them at fair market value. This is consistent with the mark to market requirement for

the CDQO’s interest rate swap agreements.
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The reclassification of these securities to available-for-sale from held-to-maturity increased
the recorded value of these securities from $558,522 to $610,713 with the difference being

recorded in other comprehensive income. The circumstance causing the Company to change
this classification was not considered a permitted circumstance as stated in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities,” and is therefore inconsistent with the Company’s intent
regarding its held-to-maturity classification. Accordingly, the Company will be prohibited
from classifying its subordinated CMBS (current holdings as well as future purchases) as

held-to-maturity for a period of two years.
Securities Held for Trading

The Company has designated certain other securities as held for trading. Securities held
for trading are also carried at estimated fair value, but changes in fair value are included in
income. The valuations of these securities and the interest income recognized are subject to

the same uncertainties as those discussed above.
Mortgage Loans

The Company purchases and originates commercial mortgage loans to be held as Jong-term
investments. The Company also has an investment in 2 private opportunity fund which invests
in commercial mortgage loans and is managed by the Manager. Management must periodically
evaluate each of these loans for possible impairment. Impairment is indicated when it is deemed
probable that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the con-
tractual terms of the loan. If a loan is determined to be impaired, the Company would establish
a reserve for probable losses and a corresponding charge to earnings. Given the nature of the
Company’s loan portfolio and the underlying commercial real estate collateral, significant judg-
ment of management is required in determining impairment and the resulting loss allowance
which includes but is not limited to making assumptions regarding the value of the real estate
which secures the mortgage loan. To date, the Company has determined that no loss allowances

have been necessary on the loans in its portfolio or held by the opportunity fund.
Real Estate Joint Ventures

The Company makes investments in real estate entities over which the Company exercises
significant influence, but not control. The real estate held by such entities must be regularly
reviewed for impairment, and would be written down to its estimated fair value, through
earnings, if impairment is determined to exist. This review involves assumptions about the
future operating results of the real estate and market factors, all of which are subjective and
difficult to predict. To date, the Company has determined that none of the real estate held

by its joint ventures is impaired.
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Derivative Instruments

The Company utilizes various hedging instruments (derivatives) to hedge interest rate and
foreign currency exposures or to modify the interest rate or foreign currency characteristics
of related Company investments. All derivatives are carried at fair value, generally estimated
by management based on valuations provided by the counterparty to the derivative contract.
For accounting purposes, the Company’s management must decide whether to designate
these derivatives as hedging borrowings, securities available for sale, securities held for trading
or foreign currency exposure. This designation decision affects the manner in which the

changes in the fair value of the derivatives are reported.

Deferred Financing

The deferred financing cost which is included in other assets on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Financial Condition include issuance costs related to the Company’s debt and
are amortized using the straight line method which method is similar to the results of the

effective interest method.

Impairment - Securities

In accordance with SFAS 115, when the estimated fair value of the security classified as avail-
able-for-sale has been below amortized cost for a significant period of time and the Company
concludes that it no longer has the ability or intent to hold the security for the period of time
over which the Company expects the values to recover to amortized cost, the investment is
written down to its fair value. The resulting charge is included in income, and a new cost basis
established. Additionally, under EITF 99-20, when significant changes in estimated cash flows
from the cash flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss
experlence, and the present value of the revised cash flows using the current expected yield is
less than the present value of the previously estimated remaining cash flows (adjusted for cash
receipts during the intervening period), an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to
have occurred. Accordingly, the security is written down to fair value with the resulting
change being included in income, and a new cost basis established. In both instances, the

original discount or premium 1s written off when the new cost basis is established. .

After taking into account the effect of the impairment charge, income is recognized under
EITF 99-20 or SFAS 91, as applicable, using the market yield for the security used in

establishing the write-down.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” These standards change the accounting for business

combinations by, among other things, prohibiting the prospective use of pooling-of-interests




accounting and requiring companies to stop amortizing goodwill and certain intangible

assets with indefinite useful lives. Instead, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have
indefinite useful lives will be subject to an annual review for impairment. The new standards
were effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2002. Upon adoption of SFAS No.
142 in the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a one-time, noncash adjustment of
approximately $6,327 to write off the unamortized balance of its negative goodwill. Such
charge is non-operational in nature and is reflected as a cumulative effect of an accounting
change in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Amortization of negative
goodwill was $1,942 and $1,062 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In August of 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No, 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations” (effective January 1, 2003) and SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long Lived Assets” (effective January 1, 2002). SFAS No. 143 requires the
recording of the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in
which it is incurred. SFAS No. 144 supercedes existing accounting literature dealing with
impairment and disposal of long-lived assets, including discontinued operations. It addresses
financial accounting and reporting for the impairment of long-lived assets and for long-lived
assets to be disposed of, and expands current reporting for discontinued operations to
include disposals of a “component” of an entity that has been disposed of or is classified as
held for sale. The Company has determined that these Interpretations do not have a significant

impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others.” The Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its
financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also
clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability
for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. This Interpretation
does not prescribe a specific approach for subsequently measuring the guarantor’s recog-
nized liability over the term of the related guarantee. The disclosure provisions of this
Interpretation are effective for the Company’s December 31, 2002 consolidated financial
statements. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of this Interpretation
are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002. The Company has determined that this Interpretation does not currently impact the

Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.”
SFAS No. 148 amends SAFS No. 123 to provide alternative methods of transition for a
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, the statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No.
123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about

the method of accounting for stock-based compensation and the effect of the method used
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on reported results. The Company has determined that this Interpretation does not current-

ly impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46”). This Interpretation clarifies the application of existing accounting
pronouncements to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics
of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.
The provisions of the Interpretation will be immediately effective for all variable interests in
variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. The Company will need to apply this
Interpretation to any existing variable interests in variable interest entities by no later than
July 1, 2003. The Company is in the process of evaluating all of its investments and other
interests in entities that may be deemed variable interest entities under the provisions of
FIN 46. These include interests in commercial mortgage backed securities and their issuers
that have issued securities with a total face value of $9,616,797. The Company’s actual loss is
limited to the amounts that are not financed in its non recourse CDOs. The fair value of the
securities financed in the CDOs 1s $460,210; the amount held outside of the CDOs is $142,496.
The Company believes that many of these interests and entities will not be consolidated, and
may not ultimately fall under the provisions of FIN 46. The Company cannot make any

definitive conclusion until it completes its evaluation.

Results of Operations

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $59,995, or $1.18 per share ($1.18
diluted). Net income for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $56,271, or $1.41 per share
($1.35 diluted). Net income for the year ended December 31, 2000 was $39,326, or $1.37 per
share ($1.28 diluted). The increase in income in both 2002 from 2001 and 2001 from 2000 is

primarily due to the reduction in short-term rates and accretive reinvestment of new capital.

Interest Income: The following table sets forth information regarding the total amount of
income from certain of the Company’s interest-earning assets and the resulting average

yields. Information is based on monthly average adjusted cost basis during the period.

[Far e Vear Exded Desamber 31, 2802

Commercial real estate securities $ 72,205 $ 730,391 9.89%
Commercial real estate loans 13,997 128,385 10.90%
Residential mortgage backed securities 72,524 1,392,389 5.21%
Cash and cash equivalents 1,473 95,996 1.53%
Total $ 160,199 $ 2,347,161 6.83%
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InEome] Balance Niield
Commercial real estate securities $ 49,177 $ 507,227 9.70%
Commercial real estate loans 15,499 122,693 12.63%
Residential mortgage backed securities 60,641 965,460 6.28%
Mortgage loan pools 1,575 20,778 7.58% ,
Cash and cash equivalents 2,581 91,630 282% .
Total $ 129,473 $ 1,707,788 7.58%

EodthelieadEnded] BiN2000]

iorms i
Commercial real estate securities $ 55,068 $ 501,388 10.98%
Commercial real estate loans 14,359 110,287 13.02%
Residential mortgage backed securities 20,048 339,254 5.91%
Mortgage loan pools 6,481 85,501 7.58%
Cash and cash equivalents 1,313 22,189 5.92%
Total $ 97,269 $ 1,058,619 9.19%

In addition to the foregoing, the Company earned $1,044, $1,667 and $348 in earnings from
real estate joint ventures during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively; $1,202 and $80 in earnings from an equity investment in 2002 and 2001, respectively;
and $25 in earnings from U.S. Treasury securities in the 2000.

Interest Expense: The following table sets forth information regarding the total amount
of interest expense from certain of the Company’s collateralized borrowings. Information
is based on daily average balances during the period; the Collateralized debt obligations for
the year ended December 31, 2002 includes the cost of hedging those transactions.

Expensel Bate)
Collateralized debt obligations $17,374 $ 263,242 6.60% ;
Reverse repurchase agreements 31,651 1,607,376 1.97% .
Lines of credit and term loan 2,451 65,741 3.73% ‘
Total $51,476 $ 1,936,359 2.66%

Intesest Annualized
Expense} (el
Reverse repurchase agreements $ 45,126 $ 1,180,115 3.82% :
Lines of credit and term loan 8,204 140,468 5.84%

Total $ 53,330 $ 1,320,583 4.04%

17




Iz Avetane! Annvalized
e Beee T

Reverse repurchase agreements $ 34,263 $ 505,893 6.77%
Lines of credit and term loan 16,849 229,863 7.35%
Total $51,112 $ 735,756 6.94%

The foregoing interest expense amounts for the year ended December 31, 2002 does not
include $(236) of hedge ineffectiveness, as well as $13,778 of interest expense related to
swaps outside of the CDOs. The foregoing interest expense amounts for the year ended
December 31, 2001 does not include $428 of hedge ineffectiveness, as well as $5,643 of
interest expense related to swaps. See Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements,

Derivative Instruments, for further description of the Company’s hedge ineffectiveness.

Net Interest Margin and Net Interest Spread from the Portfolio: The Company considers
its portfolio to consist of its securities available for sale, mortgage loan pools, commercial
mortgage loans and cash and cash equivalents because these assets relate to its core strategy
of acquiring and originating high yield loans and securities backed by commercial real
estate, while at the same time maintaining a portfolio of investment grade securities to

enhance the Company’s liquidity.

Net interest margin from the portfolio is annualized net interest income from the portfolio
divided by the average market value of interest-earning assets in the portfolio. Net interest
income from the portfolio is total interest income from the portfolio less interest expense
relating to collateralized borrowings. Net interest spread from the portfolio equals the yield
on average assets for the period less the average cost of funds for the period. The yield on
average assets is interest income from the portfolio divided by average amortized cost of
interest earning assets in the portfolio. The average cost of funds is interest expense from

the portfolio divided by average outstanding collateralized borrowings.

The following chart describes the interest income, interest expense, net interest margin and
net interest spread for the Company’s portfolio. The following interest income and interest
expense amounts exclude income and expense related to real estate joint ventures, equity

investment and hedge ineffectiveness.

. EadiheRveagEnded 3,

: 200 2060

f Interest income $ 160,200 $ 129,553 $ 97,294
: Interest expense $ 65,207 $ 57,196 $51,112
{ Net interest margin 4.40% 4.38% 5.55%
‘ Net interest spread 4.05% 3.60% 3.78%

Other Expenses: Expenses other than interest expense consist primarily of management

fees and general and administrative expenses. Management fees paid to the Manager of
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$12,527 for the year ended December 31, 2002 were comprised of base management fees

of $9,332 and incentive fees of $3,195. Management fees paid to the Manager of $11,018 for
the year ended December 31, 2001 were comprised of base management fees of $7,780 and
incentive fees of $3,238. Management fees paid to the Manager of $7,450 for the year ended
December 31, 2000 were comprised of base management fees of $6,483 and incentive fees of
$967. Other expenses/income-net of $2,323 for the year ended December 31, 2002, $1,717
for the year ended December 31, 2001 and $2,277 for the year ended December 31, 2000
were comprised of accounting agent fees, custodial agent fees, directors’ fees, fees for profes-
sional services, insurance premiums, broken deal expenses and due diligence costs. Other
expenses/income-net for the years ended 2001 and 2000 also includes the amortization of

negative goodwill.

Other Gains (Losses): During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company sold a por-
tion of its securities available for sale for total proceeds of $1,017,534, resulting in a realized
gain of $11,391. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company sold a portion of
its securities available for sale for total proceeds of $1,452,577, resulting in a realized gain of
$7,401. During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company sold a portion of its securities
available for sale for total proceeds of $3,176,357, resulting in a realized gain of $3,212. The
(loss) on securities held for trading of $(29,255), $(2,604) and $(647) for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, consisted primarily of realized and unrealized
gains and losses on U.S. Treasury and Agency Securities, forward commitments to purchase
or sell agency residential mortgage backed securities (“RMBS”) and financial futures contracts.
The foreign currency loss of $(812), $(5) and $(42) for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively, relates to the Company’s net investment in a commercial mortgage

loan denominated in pounds sterling and associated hedging.

Dividends Declared: During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company declared
dividends to stockholders totaling $65,368, or $1.40 per share, of which $48,779 was paid
during the year and $16,589 was paid on January 31, 2003. On March 6, 2003, the Company
declared dividends to its stockholders of $0.35 per share, payable on April 30, 2003 to
stockholders of record on March 31, 2003. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the
Company declared dividends to stockholders totaling $47,458 or $1.29 per share. During
the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company declared dividends to stockholders totaling
$27,591 or $1.17 per share. For U.S. Federal income tax purposes, the dividends are ordinary
income to the Company’s stockholders.

Tax Basis Net Income and GAAP Net Income: Net income as calculated for tax purposes
(tax basis net income) was estimated at $76,000 or $1.53 ($1.52 diluted) per share, for the
year ended December 31, 2002, compared to a net income as calculated in accordance with
GAAP of $59,955, or $1.18 ($1.18 diluted) per share.

Tax basis income was $53,046, or $1.31 ($1.26 diluted) per share, for the year ended
December 31, 2001, compared to a net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP of




$56,271, or $1.41 ($1.35 diluted) per share. Tax basis income was $37,594, or $1.29 ($1.22
diluted) per share, for the year ended December 31, 2000, compared to a net income as
calculated in accordance with GAAP of $39,326, or $1.37 ($1.28 diluted) per share.

Differences between tax basis net income and GAAP net income arise for various reasons.
For example, in computing income from its subordinated CMBS for GAAP purposes, the
Company takes into account estimated credit losses on the underlying loans, whereas for tax
basis income purposes, only actual credit losses are taken into account. Certain general and
administrative expenses may differ due to differing treatment of the deductibility of such
expenses for tax basis income. Also, differences could arise in the treatment of premium and

discount amortization on the Company's securities available for sale.

Changes in Financial Condition

Securities Available for Sale: The Company’s securities available for sale, which are carried
at estimated fair value, included the following at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001:
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t Commercial mortgage-backed securities:

. CMBSIOs $ 43,634 4.5% $ 79,204 5.5%

| Investment grade CMBS 55,120 5.7 14,590 1.0
Non-investment grade rated

¢+ subordinated securities 577,371 59.3 328,532 22.7

‘ Non-rated subordinated securities 25,335 2.7 31,627 22
Credit tenant lease 9,063 0.9 - -

¢ Investment grade REIT debt 183,822 18.9 51,386 35

' Total CMBS $ 894,345 92.0 $ 505,339 34.9

{

Single-family residential

i mortgage-backed securities:

o Agency adjustable rate securities 41,299 4.2 75,035 52

Agency fixed rate securities 8,833 0.9 804,759 55.7

' Residential CMOs 13,834 1.4 33,522 2.3

+  Home equity loans - - 27,299 1.9

Hybrid arms 14,751 1.5 . -

j Total RMBS $ 78717 8.0 $ 940,615 65.1

il Total securities available for sale '$ 973,062 100.0% $ 1,445,954 100.0%

The increase in the CMBS and REIT debt is attributable to the attractive opportunities

available to the Company to match fund these assets in its two CDOs.

Borrowings: As of December 31, 2002, the Company's debt consisted of line-of-credit

borrowings, CDO debt, term loans and reverse repurchase agreements, collateralized by a




pledge of most of the Company’s securities available for sale, securities held for trading and

its commercial mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2001, the Company’s debt consisted of
line-of-credit borrowings, term loans and reverse repurchase agreements, collateralized by a
pledge of most of the Company’s securities available for sale, securities held for trading and
its commercial mortgage loans. The Company's financial flexibility is affected by its ability
to renew or replace on a continuous basis its maturing short-term borrowings. As of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company has obtained financing in amounts and at

interest rates consistent with the Company's short-term financing objectives.

Under the lines of credit, term loans and the reverse repurchase agreements, the lender
retains the right to mark the underlying collateral to market value. A reduction in the value
of its pledged assets would require the Company to provide additional collateral or fund
margin calls. From time to time, the Company expects that it will be required to provide
such additional collateral or fund margin calls. Most of the Company’s reverse repurchase
agreements are collateralized by highly liquid RMBS which can be readily liquidated.

The following table sets forth information regarding the Company’s collateralized borrowings:

EcembeiINz002 ax(mu| Bangefc!

Balance) fWatunilies]
CDO debr* $ 684,590 $ 684,590 8.9 to 10.7 years
Reverse repurchase agreements 1,457,882 1,929,216 310 27 days
Line of credit and term loan borrowings 19,189 165,993 211 to 927 days

* Disclosed as adjusted issue price. Total par of CDQO debt as of December 31, 2002 is $699,924.
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Reverse repurchase agreements $ 1,717,326 $ 1,771,596 7 t0 35 days |
Line of credit and term loan borrowings 118,612 206,278 15 to 830 days %

!

Hedging Instruments: From time to time, the Company may reduce its exposure to
market interest rates by entering into various financial instruments that adjust portfolio
duration. These financial instruments are intended to mitigate the effect of changes in
interest rates on the value of certain assets in the Company’s portfolio. At December 31,
2002, the Company had outstanding short positions of 3,166 five-year and 1,126 ten-year
U.S. Treasury Note future contracts. At December 31, 2001, the Company had outstanding
short positions of 80 thirty-year U.S. Treasury Bond futures, 500 ten-year U.S. Treasury
Note future contracts and a short call swaption with a notional amount of $400,000.




Interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 consisted of

the following:

oy (e Vear Enied Decerner 50, 2002 ;
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Estimated Uneppadized  Whelgited Avermae |

Interest rate swaps 489,000 (11,948)
Interest rate swaps ~ CDO 673,832 (33,654)
Total $1,162,832 (45,602)

1.79 years
9.60 years

0
0
0

6.31 years

Fer (e Veer Ended Desemier 37, 2000 i
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!
Interest rate swaps $ 792,000 ($9,380) $4,764 8.12 years !
;

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had designated $791,287 notional of the interest
rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had
designated $682,000 of the interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges of borrowings

under reverse repurchase agreements.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Liquidity is a measurement of the Company’s ability to meet cash requirements, including
ongoing commitments to repay borrowings, fund investments, loan acquisition and lending

activities and for other general business purposes. The primary sources of funds for liquidity

consist of collateralized borrowings, principal and interest payments on and maturities of
securities available for sale, securities held for trading and commercial mortgage loans, and

proceeds from the maturity or sales thereof.

The Company finances itself with its own equity, follow-on equity offerings, preferred
stock offerings, secured term debt, committed financing facilities and reverse repurchase
agreements. An important part of the Company's risk analysis includes a thorough assessment

of the financing alternatives in the context of the assets being financed.

Reverse repurchase agreements are secured loans generally with a term of 30 days. The interest
rate is based on 30-day LIBOR plus a spread that is determined based on the asset pledged

as security. The terms include a daily mark to market provision that requires the posting of
additional collateral if the value of the pledged asset declines. After the 30-day period expires,
there is no obligation for the lender to extend credit for an additional period. This type of
financing is generally available only for more liquid securities. The interest rate charged on
reverse repurchase agreements is usually the lowest relative to the alternatives due to the greater

risk inherent in these transactions.

Committed financing facilities represent multi-year agreements to provide secured financing for

a specific asset class. These facilities include a daily mark to market provision requiring posting
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of additional collateral if the value of the pledged asset declines. A significant difference

between committed financing facilities and reverse repurchase agreements is the term of the
financing. A committed facility provider is generally required to provide financing for the full
term of the agreement, usually two to three years, rather than thirty days generally used in the

reserve repurchase market. This feature makes the financing of less liquid assets more viable.

Issuance of secured term debt is generally done through a collateralized debt obligation
offering. This entails creating a special purpose entity that holds assets used to secure the
cash flow payments required of the debt issued. As this transaction is considered a financ-
ing, the special purpose entity is fully consolidated on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. Asset cash flows are generally matched with the debrt cash flows over their
respective lives and an interest rate swap is used to match the fixed or floating rate nature
of the coupon payments where necessary. This type of transaction is usually referred to as
“match funding” or “term financing”. There is no mark to market requirement in this
structure and the debt cannot be called or terminated by the bondholders. Furthermore, the
debt issued is non-recourse to the issuer so permanent reductions in value do not affect the
liquidity of the Company. However, since the Company expects to earn a positive spread
between the income generated by the assets and the expense of the debt issued, a permanent

impairment of any of the assets would negatively affect the spread over time.

The Company may issue preferred stock from time to time as a source of long term or permanent
capital. Preferred stock generally has a fixed coupon and may have a fixed term in the form of a
maturity date or other redemption or conversion feature. The preferred stockholder typically has

the right to a preferential distribution for dividends and any liquidity proceeds.

Another source of permanent capital is the issuance of common stock through a follow-on
offering. This allows investors to purchase a large block of common stock in one transaction.
A common stock issuance can be accretive to the Company’s per share book value if the
issue price exceeds the book value of the Company’s assets. It can also be accretive to
earnings per share if the Company deploys the new capital into assets that generate a risk
adjusted return that exceeds the return of the Company’s existing assets. Furthermore,
earnings accretion can be achieved at reinvestment rates that are lower than the return on

existing assets if common stock can be issued at a premium to book value.

The Company continuously evaluates the market for follow-on common stock offerings as
well as the available opportunities to deploy new capital on an accretive basis. During 2002,
the Company did not issue any common stock in follow-on equity offerings. In 2001, the
Company issued 13,690,000 shares of common stock in two follow-on offerings at an aver-
‘age price of $9.35 per share.

Contingent Liability

On May 15, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of CORE Cap, Inc. The merger
was a stock for stock acquisition where the Company issued 4,180,552 shares of its common
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stock and 2,261,000 shares of its series B preferred stock. At the time of the CORE Cap
acquisition, the Manager agreed to pay GMAC (CORE Cap, Inc.’s external advisor) $12,500
over a ten-year period (“Installment Payment”) to purchase the right to manage the assets
under the existing management contract (“GMAC Contract”). The GMAC Contract had to
be terminated in order to allow for the Company to complete the merger, as the Company’s
management agreement with the Manager did not provide for multiple managers. As a result
the Manager offered to buy-out the GMAC contract as the Manager estimated it would
receive incremental fees above and beyond the Installment Payment, and thus was willing to

pay for, and separately negotiate, the termination of the GMAC Contract. Accordingly, the

value of the Installment Payment was not considered in the Company’s allocation of its pur-
chase price to the net assets acquired in the acquisition of CORE Cap, Inc. The Company
agreed that should the Management Agreement with its Manager be terminated, not
renewed or not extended for any reason other than for cause, the Company would pay to
the Manager an amount equal to the Installment Payment less the sum of all payments made
by the Manager to GMAC. As of December 31, 2002, the Installment Payment would be
$9,500 payable over eight years. The Company does not accrue for this contingent liability.

Transactions with Affiliates

The Company has a Management Agreement with the Manager, a majority owned indirect
subsidiary of The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (“PNC Bank”) and the employer of
certain directors and officers of the Company, under which the Manager manages the
Company’s day-to-day operations, subject to the direction and oversight of the Company’s
Board of Directors. The initial two-year term of the Management Agreement was to expire
on March 27, 2000; on March 16, 2000, the Management Agreement was extended for an
additional two years, with the approval of the unaffiliated directors, on terms similar to the
original agreement. On March 25, 2002, the Management Agreement was extended for one
year through March 27, 2003, with the approval of the unaffiliated directors, on terms similar
to the prior agreement with the following changes: (i) the incentive fee calculation would be
based on GAAP earnings instead of funds from operations, (ii) the removal of the four-year
period to value the Management Agreement in the event of termination and (ii1) subsequent
renewal periods of the Management Agreement would be for one year instead of two years.
The Board was advised by Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors, Inc., a

national investment banking and financial advisory firm, in the renewal process.

On March 6, 2003, the unaffiliated directors approved an extension of the Management
Agreement from its expiration of March 27, 2003 for one year through March 31, 2004. The
terms of the renewed agreement are similar to the prior agreement except for the incentive
fee calculation which would provide for a rolling four-quarter high watermark rather than a
quarterly calculation. In determining the rolling four-quarter high watermark, the Company
would calculate the incentive fee based upon the current and prior three quarters’ net
income. The Manager would be paid an incentive fee in the current quarter if the Yearly

Incentive Fee is greater than what was paid to the Manager in the prior three quarters




cumulatively. The Company will phase in the rolling four-quarter high watermark com-

mencing with the second quarter of 2003. Calculation of the incentive fee will be based on
GAAP and adjusted to exclude special one-time events pursuant to changes in GAAP
accounting pronouncements after discussion between the Manager and the unaffiliated
directors. The incentive fee threshold did not change. The high watermark will be based on
the existing incentive fee hurdle, which provides for the Manager to be paid 25% of the
amount of earnings (calculated in accordance with GAAP) per share that exceeds the prdduct
of the adjusted issue price of the Company’s common stock per share ($11.39 as of December

31, 2002) and the greater of 9.5% or 350 basis points over the ten-year Treasury note.

The Company pays the Manager an annual base management fee equal to a percentage of the

average invested assets of the Company as defined in the Management Agreement. The base

management fee is equal to 1% per annum of the average invested assets rated less than BB-
or not rated, 0.75% of average invested assets rated BB- to BB+, and 0.20% of average
invested assets rated above BB+. In order to coincide with the increased size of the Company,
effective July 1, 2001, the Manager reduced the base management fee from 0.35% of average
invested assets rated above BB+. This revision resulted in $2,360 and $1,059 in savings to the
Company during 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company incurred $9,332, $7,780 and $6,483 in base management fees in accordance
with the terms of the Management Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of the Management Agreement,
the Company recorded reimbursements to the Manager of $14, $216 and $120 for certain
expenses incurred on behalf of the Company during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has also paid the Manager on a quarterly basis, as incentive compensation, an
amount equal to 25% of the funds from operations of the Company (as defined) plus gains
(minus losses) from debt restructuring and sales of property, before incentive compensation
in excess of a threshold rate. The threshold rate for 1999, 2000 and the six months ended
June 30, 2001 was based upon an annualized return on equity equal to 3.5% over the ten-year
U.S. Treasury Rate on the adjusted issue price of the Common Stock. Effective July 1, 2001,
the Manager revised the threshold rate to be the greater of 3.5% over the ten-year U.S.
Treasury Rate or 9.5%. This revision resulted in $918 and $630 in savings to the Company
during 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Pursuant to the March 25, 2002 one-year Management Agreement extension, such incentive
fee was based on 25% of earnings (calculated in accordance with GAAP) of the Company.
For purposes of the incentive compensation calculation, equity is generally defined as proceeds
from issuance of Common Stock before underwriting discounts and commissions and other
costs of issuance. For purposes of calculating the incentive fee during 2002, the cumulative
transition adjustment of $6,327 resulting from the Company’s adoption of SFAS 142 was
excluded from earnings in its entirety and included using an amortization period of three
years. This revision saved the Company $1,314 of incentive fee during 2002. The Company
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incurred $3,195, $3,238 and $967 in incentive compensation for the years ended December
31, 2002, 2001 and 20C0, respectively.

On March 17, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an administration agreement

with the Manager and the termination of a previous agreement with an unaffiliated third

party. Under the terms of the administration agreement, the Manager provides financial

reporting, audit coordination and accounting oversight services to the Company. The
Company pays the Manager a monthly administrative fee at an annual rate of 0.06% of the
first $125 million of average net assets, 0.04% of the next $125 million of average net assets
and 0.03% of average net assets in excess of $250 million subject to a minimum annual fee
of $120. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company paid
administration fees of $168, $144 and $120, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company purchased certificates representing
a 1% interest in Midland Commercial Mortgage Owner Trust IV, Midland Commercial
Mortgage Owner Trust V, Midland Commercial Mortgage Owner Trust VI, Commercial
Mortgage Owner Trust VII, PNC Loan Trust VII and PNC Loan Trust VIII (collectively
the “Trusts”) for an aggregate investment of $7,021. These Midland Trusts were purchased
from Midland Loan Services, Inc. (“Midland”) and the PNC trusts were purchased from
PNC Bank. Midland is a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of PNC Bank and the depositor
to the Trusts. The assets of these Trusts consist of commercial mortgage loans originated or
acquired by Midland and PNC Bank. In connection with these transactions, the Company
entered into a $4,500 committed line of credit from PNC Funding Corp., 2 wholly-owned
indirect subsidiary of PNC Bank, to borrow up to 90% of the fair market value of the
Company’s interest in the Trusts. Outstanding borrowings against this line of credit bear
interest at a LIBOR based variable rate. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000 there were no
outstanding borrowings under this line of credit. The Company earned $163 and $33 from
the Trusts and paid interest of approximately $138 and $20 to PNC Funding Corp. during
years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Midland Trusts were all sold

prior to December 31, 2000. The gain on sale of these investments was not significant.

In March 2001, the Company purchased twelve certificates each representing a 1% interest
in different classes of Owner Trust NS [ Trust (“Owner Trusts”) for an aggregate investment
of $37,868. These certificates were purchased from PNC Bank. The assets of the Owner
Trusts consist of commercial mortgage loans originated or acquired by an affiliate of PNC
Bank. The Company entered into a $50,000 commuitted line of credit from PNC Funding
Corp. to borrow up to 95% of the fair market value of the Company’s interest in the
Owner Trusts. Outstanding borrowings against this line of credit bear interest at a LIBOR
based variable rate. As of December 31, 2001, there was $13,885 borrowed under this line of
credit. The Company earned $1,468 from the Owner Trusts and paid interest of approximate-
ly $849 to PNC Funding Corp. as interest on borrowings under a related line of credit for
year ended December 31, 2001. During 2001, the Company sold four Owner Trusts. The
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gain on the sale of those Owner Trusts was $35. The outstanding borrowings were repaid

prior to the expiration of the line of credit on March 13, 2002, at which time the remaining
Owner Trusts were sold at a gain of $90.

On July 20, 2001, the Company entered into a $50 million commitment to acquire shares in
Carbon. The period during which the Company may be required to purchase shares under
the commitment, expires in July 2004, On November 19, 2001, the Company received a
capital call notice to fund $8,784 of its Carbon investment, which was paid on November
19, 2001. On October 30, 2002, the Company funded an additional capital call notice in the
amount of $6,100. The proceeds of the capital calls were primarily used by Carbon to
acquire commercial loans secured by real estate or ownership interests in entities that own
real estate. On December 31, 2001, the Company owned 32.5% of the outstanding shares
in Carbon. In March 2002, Carbon obtained additional commitments from unaffiliated
institutional investors while the Company’s commitment remained unchanged. Accordingly,
the Company’s ownership was reduced from 32.5% to 18.8%. On December 30, 2002, the
Company received dividends from its investment of $1,089. The Company’s remaining
commitment at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $35,116 and $41,216, respectively. On
February 6, 2003, the Company funded an additional capital call notice in the amount of
$2,680, which was used by Carbon to acquire a mezzanine loan secured by ownership

interests in an entity that owns a mixed-use development.

REIT Status: The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT and therefore must comply
with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) with respect thereto.
Accordingly, the Company generally will not be subject to Federal income tax to the extent
of its distributions to stockholders and as long as certain asset, income and stock ownership
tests are met. The Company may, however, be subject to tax at corporate rates or at excise

tax rates on net income or capital gains not distributed.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk: Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates,
credit curve spreads, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices.
The primary market risks to which the Company is exposed are interest rate risk and credit
curve risk. Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental,
monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations
and other factors beyond the control of the Company. Credit risk is highly sensitive to
dynamics of the markets for commercial mortgage securities and other loans and securities
held by the Company. Excessive supply of these assets combined with reduced demand will
cause the market to require a higher yield. This demand for higher yield will cause the market
to use a higher spread over the U.S. Treasury securities yield curve, or other benchmark
interest rates, to value these assets. Changes in the general level of the U.S. Treasury yield

curve can have significant effects on the market value of the Company’s portfolio.
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The majority of the Company’s assets are fixed rate securities valued based on a market
credit spread to U.S. Treasuries. As U.S. Treasury securities are priced to a higher yield
and/or the spread to U.S. Treasuries used to price the Company’s assets is increased, the
market value of the Company’s portfolio may decline. Conversely, as U.S. Treasury securi-
ties are priced to a lower yield and/or the spread to U.S. Treasuries used to price the
Company’s assets is decreased, the market value of the Company’s portfolio may increase.
Changes in the market value of the Company’s portfolio may affect the Company’s net
income or cash flow directly through their impact on unrealized gains or losses on securities
held for trading or indirectly through their impact on the Company’s ability to borrow.
Changes in the level of the U.S. Treasury yield curve can also affect, among other things, the

prepayment assumptions used to value certain of the Company’s securities and the

Company’s ability to realize gains from the sale of such assets. In addition, changes in the
general level of the LIBOR money market rates can affect the Company’s net interest
income. The majority of the Company’s liabilities are floating rate based on a market spread
to U.S. LIBOR. As the level of LIBOR increases or decreases, the Company’s interest

expense will move in the same direction.

The Company may utilize a variety of financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, caps,
floors and other interest rate exchange contracts, in order to limit the effects of fluctuations in
interest rates on its operations. The use of these types of derivatives to hedge interest-earning
assets and/or interest-bearing liabilities carries certain risks, including the risk that losses on a
hedge position will reduce the funds available for payments to holders of securities and, that
such losses may exceed the amount invested in such instruments. A hedge may not perform its
intended purpose of offsetting losses or increased costs. Moreover, with respect to certain of the
instruments used as hedges, the Company is exposed to the risk that the counterparties with
which the Company trades may cease making markets and quoting prices in such instruments,
which may render the Company unable to enter into an offsetting transaction with respect to an
open position. If the Company anticipates that the income from any such hedging transaction
will not be qualifying income for REIT income test purposes, the Company may conduct part
or all of its hedging activities through a to-be-formed corporate subsidiary that is fully subject to
federal corporate income taxation. The profitability of the Company may be adversely affected

during any period as a result of changing interest rates.

The following tables quantify the potential changes in the Company’s net portfolio value and net
interest income under various interest rates and credit-spread scenarios. The Company views the
probability of interest rate changes in terms of standard deviation units. Based on historical data,
there is a 68% and 95% statistical probability that rates remained in a range of one and two
standard deviation units, respectively. This statistical computation provides an historical context
for analyzing changes in interest rates. Net portfolio value is defined as the value of interest-
earning assets net of the value of interest-bearing liabilities. It is evaluated using an assumption
that interest rates, as defined by the U.S. Treasury yield curve, increase or decrease and the
assumption that the yield curves of the rate shocks will be parallel to each other. One standard

deviation of ten-year treasury rates for calendar year 2002 was 53 basis points.




Net interest income 1s defined as interest income earned from interest-earning assets net of

the interest expense incurred by the interest bearing liabilities. It is evaluated using the
assumptions that interest rates, as defined by the U.S. LIBOR curve, increase or decrease
and the assumption that the yield curves of the LIBOR rate shocks will be parallel to each
other. Market value in this scenario is calculated using the assumption that the U.S.
Treasury yield curve remains constant. One standard deviation of one-month LIBOR for

calendar year 2002 was 16 basis points.

All changes in income and value are measured as percentage changes from the respective
values calculated in the scenario labeled as “Base Case.” The base interest rate scenario
assumnes interest rates as of December 31, 2002 and 2001. Actual results could differ signifi-

cantly from these estimates.

Frojecied Pereenags Change b Perielie Nt Made) Vel
@lven U.S. Treasury Vel Cune Movemens

2002 Projected Change in Change in Treasury 2001 Projected Change in
Portfolio Net Market Value Yield Gurve, +/- Basis Points Portfolio Net Market Value

0.5% -200 4.0%

2.0% -100 3.9%

1.4% -50 2.4%

Base Case

(2.3)% +50 (3.4)%

(5.5)% +100 (7.8)%

(14.5)% +200 (19.5)%

RusiestetiiencentaelehianoelinboiticisiitefVdskeivatie]

Biven Gredh Spread

2002 Projected Change in Change in Credit Spreads, 2001 Projected Change in
Portfolio Net Market Value +/- Basis Points Portiolio Net Market Value

17.4% -200 19.1%

10.4% -100 11.5%

5.7% -50 6.2%

Base Case

(6.5)% +50 (7.2)%

(14.0)% +100 (15.4)%

(31.49)% +200 (34.6)%

Projesied EhangegtnlRoxtioliofieiinteresifinceme
Gliven Mevemens

2002 Projected Change Projected Change in 2001 Projected Change Projected
in Portfolio Change in Net LIBOR, +/- in Portfolio Change in Net
Net Interest Income Income per Share Basis Paints Net Interest Income Income per Share
8.0% $0.15 -100 6.7% $0.16
4.0% $0.08 -50 3.3% $0.08
Base Case
(4.0)% ($0.08) +50 (3.3)% ($0.08)
(8.0)% ($0.15) +100 6.7% ($0.16)
(16.1)% (%0.31) +200 (13.4)% (80.32)
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The aggregate sensitivity to short-term rates has not changed year over year. However, as
detailed above a significant portion of the Company’s illiquid credit sensitive CMBS was
match funded in 2002 with no short-term rate risk. As of December 31, 2002 the majority
of the Company’s short-term rate exposure was concentrated in the highly liquid RMBS

portfolio which can be adjusted quickly to react to changes in short-term rates.

Credit Risk: The Company’s portfolios of commercial real estate assets are subject to a
high degree of credit risk. Credit risk is the exposure to loss from loan defaults. Default
rates are subject to a wide variety of factors, including, but not limited to, property per-

formance, property management, supply/demand factors, construction trends, consumer

behavior, regional economics, interest rates, the strength of the American economy and

other factors beyond the control of the Company.

All loans are subject to a certain probability of default. The Company underwrites its
CMBS investments assuming the underlying loans will suffer a certain dollar amount of
defaults and these defaults will lead to some level of realized losses. Loss adjusted yields are
computed based on these assumptions and applied to each class of security supported by the
cash flow on the underlying loans. The most significant variables affecting loss adjusted
yields include, but are not limited to, the number of defaults, the severity of loss that occurs
subsequent to a default and the timing of the actual loss. The different rating levels of CMBS
will react differently to changes in these assumptions. The lowest rated securities (B- or
lower) are generally more sensitive to changes in timing of actual losses. The higher rated

securities (B or higher) are more sensitive to the severity of losses.

The Company generally assumes that all of the principal of a non-rated security and a
significant portion, if not all, of CCC and a portion of B- rated securities will not be recov-
erable over time. The loss adjusted yields of these classes reflect that assumption; therefore,
the timing of when the total loss of principal occurs is the key assumption. The interest
coupon generated by a security will cease when there is a total loss of its principal regardless
of whether that principal is paid. Therefore, timing is of paramount importance because the
longer the principal balance remains outstanding the more interest coupon the holder
recelves to support a greater econoniic return. Alternatively, if principal is lost faster than
originally assumed there is less opportunity to receive interest coupon therefore a lower or
possibly negative return may result. Additional losses occurring due to greater severity will

not have a significant effect as all principal is already assumed to be non-recoverable.

If actual principal losses on the underlying loans exceed assumptions, the higher rated securities
will be affected more significantly as a loss of principal may not have been assumed. The
Company generally assumes that most if not all principal will be recovered by classes rated

B or higher.

The Company manages credit risk through the underwriting process, establishing loss
assumptions and careful monitoring of loan performance. Before acquiring a Controlling




Class security that represents a proposed pool of loans, the Company will perform a

rigorous analysis of the quality of all of the loans proposed. As a result of this analysis,
loans with unacceptable risk profiles will be removed from the proposed pool. Information
from this review is then used to establish loss assumptions. The Company will assume that a
certain portion of the loans will default and calculate an expe;:ted or loss adjusted yield
based on that assumption. After the securities have been acquired, the Company monitors

the performance of the loans, as well as external factors that may affect their value.

Factors that indicate a higher loss severity or acceleration of the timing of an expected
loss will cause a reduction in the expected yield and therefore reduce the earnings of the
Company. Furthermore, the Company may be required to write down a portion of the

adjusted purchase price of the affected assets through its income statement.

For purposes of illustration, a doubling of the losses in the Company’s Controlling Class
CMBS, without a significant acceleration of those losses would reduce GAAP income going
forward by approximately $0.21 per share of common stock per annum and cause a significant
write down at the time the loss assumption is changed. The amount of the write down
depends on several factors, including which securities are most affected at the time of the
write down, but is estimated to be in the range of $0.60 to $0.80 per share based on a doubling
of expected losses. A significant acceleration of the timing of these losses would cause the
Company’s net income to decrease. The total adjusted purchase price of Controlling Class
CMBS at December 31, 2002 was $9.25 per share. The amount of adjusted purchase price
that is not match funded in a CDO is $3.95 per share. The Company’s exposure to a write
down is mitigated by the fact that most of these assets are financed on a non-recourse basis

in the Company’s CDOs, where a significant portion of the risk of loss is transferred to the

CDO bondholders.

Asset and Liability Management: Asset and liability management is concerned with the
timing and magnitude of the repricing and/or maturing of assets and liabilities. It is the
objective of the Company to attempt to control risks associated with interest rate movements.
In general, management’s strategy is to match the term of the Company’s liabilities as closely
as possible with the expected holding period of the Company’s assets. This is less important
for those assets in the Company’s portfolio considered liquid as there is a very stable market

for the financing of these securities.

Other methods for evaluating interest rate risk, such as interest rate sensitivity “gap” (defined
as the difference between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities maturing or
repricing within a given time period), are used but are considered of lesser significance in the
daily management of the Company’s portfolio. Management considers this relationship when
reviewing the Company’s hedging strategies. Because different types of assets and liabilities
with the same or similar maturities react differently to changes in overall market rates or
conditions, changes in interest rates may affect the Company's net interest income positively

or negatively even if the Company were to be perfectly matched in each maturity category.







Anthracite Capital, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(in thousands, except per share data)

Desember §1. 2002

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash equivalents

Securities available for sale, at fair value
Subordinated commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS)
Investment grade securities

Total securities available for sale

Securities held for trading, at fair value

Commercial mortgage loans, net

Equity investment in Carbon Capital, Inc.

Investments in real estate joint ventures

Receivable for investments sold

Other assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:
Borrowings:
Collateralized debt obligations
Secured by pledge of subordinated CMBS
Secured by pledge of other securities available for sale
and cash equivalents
Secured by pledge of securities held for trading
Secured by pledge of investments in real estate joint ventures
Secured by pledge of commercial mortgage loans
Total borrowings
Payable for investments purchased
Distributions payable
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities

10.5% Series A Preferred Stock, redeemable convertible,
liquidation preference $285 in 2001

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share; 400,000 shares
authorized;
47,398 shares issued and outstanding in 2002;
45,286 shares issued and outstanding in 2001
10% Series B Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $47,817 in
2002 and $55,317 in 2001
Additional paid-in capital
Distributions in excess of earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Stockholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral past of these consolidated financial statements.

$ 602,706

370,356

$ 684,590
7,295

98,439
1,355,333
1,337

14,667

$ 24,698
84,485

973,062
1,427,733
65,664

14,997

8,265

40,447
$2,639,351

$2,161,661
524

16,589
54,361
$2,233,135

47

36,379
515,180
(24,161)
(121,229)

406,216

$2,639,351

$ 43,071
37,376

$ 360,159

1,085,795

1,445,954
578,008
142,637

8,784
8,317
344,789
18,267
$2,627,203

$ 178,631

1,039,469
559,145
1,337

57,356

$1,835,938
346,913
17,245
43,734
$2,243,830

258

45

42,086
492,531
(13,588)

(137,959)
383,115

$2,627,203
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Anthracite Capital, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

For lbe year snded
Derzmber 81,

Eer (he year ended
December 31,

Far the yesr ended
Dezember 1, 2600

W

Income:

Interest from securities available for sale
Interest from commercial mortgage loans
Interest from mortgage loan pools
Interest from securities held for trading
Earnings from real estate joint ventures
Earnings from equity investment
Interest from cash and cash equivalents

Total income

Expenses:

Interest

Interest — securities held for trading

Management and incentive fee

Other expenses / income ~ net
Total expenses

Other gains (losses):
(ain on sale of securities available for sale
Loss on securities held for trading
Foreign currency loss
Loss on impairment of asset

Total other gain (loss)

Income before cumulative transition adjustments
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 142
Cumulative transition adjusiment — SFAS 133

Net Income
Dividends and accretion on Preferred Stock
Net Income Available to Common Stockholders

Net income per common share, basic:

Income before cumulative transition adjustment
Cumulative transition adjustment - SAFS 142
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 133

Net income

Net income per common share, diluted:
Income before cumulative transition adjustment
Cumulative transition adjustment — SAFS 142
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 133
Net income

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$ 99,308
13,997
45421

1,044
1,202
1,473
162,445

50,987
14,031
12,527

2,323
79,368

11,391
(29,255)
(812)
(10,273)
(28,949)

53,628
6,327

59, 955

5,162

_—

$ 54,793

$  1.04

0.14
$ 118
$  1.04

0.14
$ 118
46,411
46,452

$ 85,137
15,499
1,575
24,681
1,667

80

2,581
131,220

44,425
14,976
11,018

1,717
72,136

7,401
(2,604)
(5)

5,702
910

58,174

1,903

56,271

8,964

—_—

$ 47,307

$ 1.47
0.06

$ 141

$ 1.40
0.05

$ 135

33,568
37,616

$ 75116
14,359
6,481

25

348

1,313

_—

97,642

51,112

7,450
2,277

60,839

3212
(647)
(42)

2,523

39,326

7,065

$ 32261

23,587
27,668



Anthracite Capital, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
for the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and 2000 (in thousands)

Serfies 8 doilicnat Takel
e e Paili-{ IExcEsy Comprehensie ﬁ:mgl eeys  Sedeliers’
i Ganial 0EaIN 03] oss) : ity

Balance at December 31, 1999 $ - $ 287,486 $ (18,107) $ (101,139) $ - $ 168,261
Purchase of common shares 39) (39)
Net income 39,326 $ 39,326 39,326
Change 1n net unrealized (loss) )
on securities available for sale,
net of reclassification adjustment (1,732) (1,732) (1,732)
Other comprehensive loss (1,732)
Comprehensive income $ 37,594
Dividends declared — common stock (27,591) - (27,591)
Dividends and accretion on preferred stock (7,065) (7,065)
Issuance of common stock 28,086 28,090
Issuance of Series B preferred stock 43,004 43,004
Balance at December 31, 2000 43,004 315,533 (13,437) (102,871) 242,254
Net income 56,271 $ 56,271 56,271
Cumulative transition adjustment - SFAS 133 1,903 1,903 1,903
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges (11,941) (11,941) (11,941)
Reclassification adjustments from cash ‘
flow hedges included in net income 994 994 994
Change in net unrealized loss on securities
available for sale, net of reclassification adjustment (26,044) (26,044) (26,044)
Other comprehensive loss (35,088)
Comprehensive income $ 21,183
Dividends declared — common stock (47,458) - (47,458)
Dividends and accretion on preferred stock (8,964) (8,964)
Issuance of common stock 145,438 145,453
Conversion of Series B preferred stock
to common stock (918) 917 -
Conversion of Series A preferred stock
to common stock ’ 30,492 30,496
Compensation cost — stock options 151 151
Balance at December 31, 2001 42,086 492,531 (13,588) (137,959) 383,115
Net income 59,955 $ 59,955 59,955
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges (56,769) (56,769) (56,769)
Reclassification adjustments from
cash flow hedges included in net income 5,619 5,619 5,619
Change in net unrealized loss on securities
available for sale, net of reclassification adjustment 67,880 67,880 67,880
Other comprehensive income 16,730
Comprehensive income $ 76,685
Dividends declared-common stock (65,366) - (65,366)
Dividends declared-preferred stock (5,162) (5,162)
Issuance of common stock 16,685 16,686
Conversion of Series B preferred stock
to common stock (5,707) 5,706
Conversion of Series A preferred stock
to common stock 258 258
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 36,379 $ 515,180 $ (24,161) $ (121,229) $ 406,216

(W8]
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Vears ended Dezember 87,

3

6

807 2800

Unrealized holding gain (loss) on securities available for sale $ 56,489 $ (33,445) $ (4,944)
Reclassification for realized gains previously recorded as unrealized 11,391 7,401 3,212
$ 67,880 $ (26,044) $(1,732)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Anthracite Capital, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(in thousands)

Vears Eneed Deeember & 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income ' $ 59,955 $ 56271 $ 39,326
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Net (purchase) sale of trading securities (878,980) (454,960) 52,751
Net loss (gain) on sale of securities 17,864 (4,797) (1,732)
Amortization of negative goodwill - (1,942) (1,062)
Cumulative transition adjustment (6,327) 1,903 -
(Discount aceretion), premium amortization, net 9,295) 6,376 5,420
Compensation cost — stock options - 151 -
Loss on impairment of asset 10,273 5,702 -
Noncash portion of net foreign currency loss 276 5 42
Distributions (earnings) from joint ventures in excess of earnings (distributions) 52 116 (84)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (14,215) 12,803 8,316
Increase in other liabilities 16,954 2,657 12,757
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (803,443) (375,715) 115,734
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of securities available for sale (686,710) (2,383,483) (991,191)
Principal payments received on securities available for sale 167,570 123,578 102,950
Funding of commercial mortgage loans (3,370) (56,070) (101,100)
Repayments received from commercial mortgage loans 82,865 66,620 17,524
Increase in restricted cash equivalents (47,109) (27,892) (9,484)
Investment in real estate joint ventures, net - 1,921 (10,270)
Investment in Carbon Capital, Inc. (6,100) (8,784) -
Principal payment received on mortgage loan pools - 10,981 20,274
Proceeds from sale of securities available for sale and mortgage loan pools 1,017,534 1,452,577 1,822,107
Net cash acquired in merger - - 33,379
Acquisition costs - - 4,129
Net payments under hedging securities (8,077) (11,973) (4,405)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 516,603 (832,525) 883,913
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings 322,965 1,116,596 (962,396)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of offering costs 16,686 145,803 -
Distributions on common stock (64,633) (40,038) (26,130)
(Distributions on) net of issuance of preferred stock (6,551) (8,879) 4,482
Purchase of common shares » - - (39)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 268,467 1,213,482 (984,083)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (18,373) 5,242 15,564
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 43,071 37,829 22,265
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 24,698 $ 43,071 $ 37,829
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: T - -
Interest paid $ 71,746 $ 54852 $ 47504
Investments purchased not settled $ 524 W 5 -
Investments sold not settled $ - $ 344,789 s



Anthracite Capital, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

{in thousands) Continued
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Supplemental schedule of rion-cash investing and financing activities:
The Company purchased all of the assets of CORE Cap., Inc. during the

year end December 31, 2000 prin\1arily through issuance of the Company’s

common and preferred stock, as follows:

Fair value of assets acquired

Cash included in acquired assets

Liabilities assumed

Common stock issued in connection with acquisition

Preferred stock issued in connection with the acquisition

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$1,281,070
33,379
1,215,534
28,090
43,004




Anthracite Capital, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Note 1 — Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Anthracite Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Maryland in November 1997

and commenced operations on March 24, 1998. The Company's principal business activity is to
invest in a diversified portfolio of CMBS, multifamily, commercial and residential mortgage loans,
residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) and other real estate related assets in the U.S.

and non-U.S. markets. The Company is organized and managed as a single business segment.

In preparing the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP), management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the statements of financial condition and revenues and expenses
for the periods covered. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.
Significant estimates in the financial statements include the valuation of the Company’s

investments and an estimate of credit performance on CMBS investments.
A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies follows:
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been

eliminated in consolidation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be

cash equivalents.
Deferred Financing

The deferred financing cost which is included in other assets on the Company’s consolidated
statements of financial condition includes issuance costs related to the Company’s debt and is
amortized using the straight line method which method is similar to the results of the effective

interest method.
Securities Available for Sale

The Company has designated its investments in mortgage-backed securities, mortgage-relat-
ed securities and certain other securities as assets available-for-sale because the Company
may dispose of them prior to maturity and does not hold them principally for the purpose
of selling them in the near term. Securities available for sale are carried at estimated fair




value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses on securities that reflect

a decline in value which is judged by management to be other than temporary, if any, are charged
to earnings. At disposition, the realized net gain or loss is included in income on a specific
identification basis. The amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are computed using
the effective yield method after considering actual and estimated prepayment rates, if applicable,
and credit losses. Actual prepayment and credit loss experience is reviewed quarterly and effective
yields are recalculated when differences arise between prepayments and credit losses originally

anticipated and amounts actually received plus anticipated future prepayments and credit losses.

As a result of the pending closing of CDO 1, at the end of the first quarter 2002 the Company
reclassified all of its subordinated CMBS on the balance sheet from available-for-sale to held-to-
maturity. The effect of this reclassification changed the accounting basis of these securities,

prospectively, from mark to market to adjusted cost. However, in accordance with SFAS 133, the

interest rate swap agreements entered into by the Company to hedge the variable rate exposure of
the debt of CDO 1 are required to be presented on the balance sheet at their fair market value
causing fluctuations in the book value of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has
determined that at December 31, 2002, and going forward, it will classify all of its subordinated
CMBS as available-for-sale securities and record them at fair market value. This is consistent with

the mark to market requirement for the CDO?s interest rate swap agreements.

The reclassification of these securities to available-for-sale from held-to-maturity increased the
recorded value of these securities from $558,522 to $610,713 with the difference being recorded in
other comprehensive income. The circumstance causing the Company to change this classification
was not considered a permitted circumstance as stated in Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (SFAS) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,”
and is therefore inconsistent with the Company’s intent regarding its held-to-maturity
classification. Accordingly, the Company will be prohibited from classifying its subordinated
CMBS (current holdings as well as future purchases) as held-to-maturity for a period of two years.

The Company adopted the EITF 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on
Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets” on April 1, 2001. The
Company recognizes interest income from its purchased beneficial interests in securitized financial
interests (“beneficial interests”) (other than beneficial interests of high credit quality, sufficiently
collateralized to ensure that the possibility of credit loss is remote, or that cannot contractually be
prepaid or otherwise settled in such a way that the Company would not recover substantially all
of its recorded investment) in accordance with this guidance. Accordingly, on a quarterly basis,
when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash flows previously estimated occur
due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience, the Company calculates a revised yield
based on the current amortized cost of the investment (including any other-than-temporary
impairments recognized to date) and the revised cash flows. The revised yield is then applied

prospectively to recognize interest income.
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Prior to April 1, 2001, the Company recognized income from these beneficial interests using the
effective interest method, based on an anticipated yield over the projected life of the security.
Changes in the anticipated yields were calculated due to revisions in the Company’s estimates of
future and actual credit losses and prepayments. Changes in anticipated yields resulting from
credit loss and prepayment revisions were recognized through a cumulative catch-up adjustment
at the date of the change which reflected the change in income from the security from the date of
purchase through the date of change in the anticipated yield. The new yield was then used
prospectively to account for interest income. Changes in yields from reduced estimates of losses

were recognized prospectively.

For other mortgage-backed and related mortgage securities, the Company accounts for interest
income under SFAS 91, using the effective yield method which includes the amortization of

discount or premium arising at the time of purchase and the stated or coupon interest payments.

In accordance with SFAS 115, when the estimated fair value of the security classified as available-
for-sale has been below amortized cost for a significant period of time and the Company
concludes that it no longer has the ability or intent to hold the security for the period of time over
which the Company expects the values to recover to amortized cost, the investment is written
down to its fair value. The resulting charge is included in income, and a new cost basis established.
Additionally, under EITF 99-20, when significant changes in estimated cash flows from the cash
flows previously estimated occur due to actual prepayment and credit loss experience, and the
present value of the revised cash flows using the current expected yield is less than the present
value of the previously estimated remaining cash flows (adjusted for cash receipts during the inter-
vening period), an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to have occurred. Accordingly,
the security is written down to fair value with the resulting change being included in income, and
a new cost basis established. In both instances, the original discount or premium is written off

when the new cost basis 1s established.

After taking into account the effect of the impairment charge, income is recognized under EITF
99-20 or SFAS 91, as applicable, using the market yield for the security used in establishing the

write-down.

Securities Held for Trading
The Company has designated certain securities as assets held for trading because the Company
intends to hold them for short periods of time. Securities held for trading are carried at estimated

fair value with net unrealized gains or losses included in income.
Morigage Loans

The Company purchases and originates certain commercial mortgage loans to be held as
long-term investments. Loans held for long-term investments are recorded at cost at the date of
purchase. Premiums and discounts related to these loans are amortized over their estimated lives
using the effective interest method. Any origination fee income and application fee income net of

direct costs associated with originating or purchasing commercial mortgage loans are deferred and
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included in the basis of the loans on the consolidated statement of financial condition. The net
fees are amortized over the life of the loans using the effective interest method. The Company
recognizes impairment on the loans when it is probable that the Company will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. The Company
measures impairment (both interest and principle) based on the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or the fair value of the collateral if the

loan is collateral dependent.

The Company acquired certain residential mortgage loan pools in the CORE Cap merger (See
Note 14 of the consolidated financial statements). Residential loan pools are treated as available-
for-sale debt securities and are carried at estimated fair value with net unrealized gains or losses
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’
equity. Unrealized losses that reflect a decline in value, which is judged by management to be

other than temporary, if any, are charged to earnings.

Equity Invesiments and Real Estate Joint Ventures

Investments in real estate entities over which the Company exercises significant influence, but not
control, are accounted for under the equity method. The Company recognizes its share of each
venture’s income or loss, and reduces its investment balance by distributions received. Real estate
held by such entities is regularly reviewed for impairment, and would be written down to its

estimated fair value if impairment is determined to exist.

As part of its short-term trading strategies (see Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements),
the Company may sell securities that it does not own (“short sales”). To complete a short sale,
the Company may arrange through a broker to borrow the securities to be delivered to the buyer.
The proceeds received by the Company from the short sale are retained by the broker until the
Company replaces the borrowed securities, generally within a period of less than one month. In
borrowing the securities to be delivered to the buyer, the Company becomes obligated to replace
the securities borrowed at their market price at the time of the replacement, whatever that price
may be. A gain, limited to the price at which the Company sold the security short, or a loss,
unlimited as to dollar amount, will be recognized upon the termination of a short sale if the
market price is less than or greater than the proceeds originally received. The Company’s liability
under the short sales is recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses included in net gain

or loss on securities held for trading in the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by any broker that holds
a deposit as collateral for securities borrowed. However, the Company does not anticipate

nonperformance by any broker.
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As part of its short-term trading strategies (see Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements),

the Company may enter into forward commitments to purchase or sell U.S. Treasury securities or




securities issued by Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC"), Federal National
Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) or Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”),

(collectively “Agency Securities”), which obligate the Company to purchase or sell such securities

at a specified date at a specified price. When the Company enters into such a forward commit-
ment, it will, generally within sixty days or less, enter into a matching forward commitment with
the same or a different counterparty which entitles the Company to sell (in instances where the
original transaction was a commitment to purchase) or purchase (in instances where the original
transaction was a commitment to sell) the same or similar securities on or about the same specified
date as the original forward commitment. Any difference between the specified price of the
original and matching forward commitments will result in a gain or loss to the Company.
Changes in the fair value of open commitments are recognized on the consolidated statement of
financial condition and included among assets (if there is an unrealized gain) or among liabilities
(if there is an unrealized loss). A corresponding amount is included as a component of net gain or

loss on securities held for trading in the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on these commitments, as well as to credit Joss
in the event of nonperformance by any other party to the Company’s forward commitments.
However, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by any counterparty.

Financial Fussres Contracts — Trading

As part of its short-term trading strategies (see Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements),
the Company may enter into financial futures contracts, which are agreements between two par-
ties to buy or sell a financial instrument for a set price on a future date. Injtial margin deposits are
made upon entering into futures contracts and can be either cash or securities. During the period
that the futures contract is open, changes in the value of the contract are recognized as gains or
losses on securities held for trading by “marking-to-market” on a daily basis to reflect the market
value of the contract at the end of each day’s trading. Variation margin payments are received or

made, depending upon whether gains or losses are incurred.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on the contracts, as well as to credit loss in the event
of nonperformance by any other party to the contract. However, the Company does not antici-

pate nonperformance by any counterparty.
Derivaiive Instrauments

As part of its asset/liability management activities, the Company may enter into interest rate
swap agreements, forward currency exchange contracts and other financial instruments in order
to hedge interest rate and foreign currency exposures or to modify the interest rate or foreign

currency characteristics of related items in its consolidated statement of financial condition.

Income and expenses from interest rate swap agreements that are, for accounting purposes,
designated as hedging borrowings are recognized as a net adjustment to the interest expense of

the hedged item. During the term of the interest rate swap agreement, changes in fair value are
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recognized on the consolidated statement of financial condition and included among assets
(if there is an unrealized gain) or among liabilities (if there is an unrealized loss). Changes in fair
value are collateralized with cash or cash equivalents and are recorded on the consolidated

statement of financial condition as restricted cash. A corresponding amount is included as a

component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders” equity. The

Company accounts for revernues and expenses from the interest rate swap agreements under the
accrual basis over the period to which the payment relates. Amounts paid to acquire these instru-
ments are capitalized and amortized over the life of the instrument. Amortization of capitalized
fees paid as well as payments received under these agreements are recorded as an adjustment to
interest income. If the underlying hedged securities are sold, the amount of unrealized gain or loss
in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) relating to the corresponding interest rate swap
agreement is included in the determination of gain or loss on the sale of the securities. If interest
rate swap agreements are terminated, the associated gain or loss is deferred over the shorter of

the remaining term of the swap agreement, or the underlying hedged item, provided that the
underlying hedged item has not been sold.

Revenues and expenses from forward currency exchange contracts are recognized as a net
adjustment to foreign currency gain or loss. During the term of the forward currency exchange
contracts, changes in fair value are recognized on the consolidated statement of financial condition
and included among assets (if there is an unrealized gain) or among liabilities (if there is an.unreal-
ized loss). A corresponding amount is included as a component of net foreign currency gain or

loss in the consolidated statement of operations.

Financial futures contracts that are, for accounting purposes, designated as hedging securities
held for trading, are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value included in the consolidated

statement of operations.

The Company monitors its hedging instruments throughout their terms to ensure that they
remain effective for their intended purpose. The Company is exposed to interest rate and/or
currency risk on these hedging instruments, as well as to credit loss in the event of nonperfor-
mance by any other party to the Company’s hedging instruments. The Company’s policy is to

enter into hedging agreements with counterparties rated A or better.

For option grants prior to December 15, 1998, the Company considered its officers and directors
to be employees for the purposes of stock option accounting. In accordance with the FASB’s
Interpretation No. 44, “ Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation,” the
Company’s officers and directors are not considered to be employees for grants made subsequent

to that date.

Of the options issued under the 1998 Stock Option Plan, options covering 979,426 shares of
Common Stock were granted prior to December 15, 1998 to individuals deemed to be employees.
The Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-

Based Compensation,” for such options. Accordingly, no compensation cost for these options has




been recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. Had compensation cost for these

options been determined based on the fair value of the options at the grant date consistent with
the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income and net income per share would have

changed to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

- R g o w o wm
Net income ~ as reported $ 59,955 $ 56,271 $ 39,326
¢ Net income - pro forma 59,955 56,218 39,158
; Net income per common share, basic - as reported 1.18 1.41 137
Net income per common share, basic — pro forma 1.18 1.41 1.36
Net income per common share, diluted - as reported 1.18 1.35 1.28
Net income per common share, diluted — pro forma 1.18 1.35 1.28

For the pro forma, the compensation cost is amortized over the vesting period of the options.

For the options to purchase 786,915 shares of the Company’s Common Stock granted to
non-employees under the 1998 Stock Option Plan, compensation cost is accrued based on the
estimated fair value of the options issued and amortized over the vesting period. Because vesting
of the options is contingent upon the recipient continuing to provide services to the Company to
the vesting date, the Company estimates the fair value of the non-employee options at each period
end, up to the vesting date, and adjusts expensed amounts accordingly. The value of these non-
employee options at each period end was negligible and was fully vested by March 2002.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in the
period ending December 31, 2000. There were no options granted in 2002 and 2001.

Desemier 31, 2000

Estimated volatility 25%

Expected life . 7 years
Risk-free interest rate 6.0%

Expected dividend yield 11.35%

Neggiive Goodwil]

Negative goodwill reflects the excess of the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired in the
CORE Cap Inc. merger (See Note 14 of the consolidated financial statements) over the purchase
price for such assets. Negative goodwill was being amortized using the straight-line method from
the date of acquisition over approximately 5.7 years, the weighted average lives of the assets
acquired in the merger that the Company intended to retain. In March 2001, the Company sold
approximately $60,211 of the assets acquired in the CORE Cap merger. Effective in April 2001,
the Company began amortizing the remaining balance of negative goodwill over 4.5 years, which

represents the weighted average lives of the remaining assets. This amortization is included in




other expenses/income - net. Negative goodwill, net, was $6,327 at December 31, 2001, and is
included in other liabilities. Pursuant to SFAS 142 (See Recent Accounting Pronouncements),
the Company recognized the unamortized negative goodwill balance in income during the first
quarter of 2002.
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The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT and to comply with the provisions of the Code
with respect thereto. Accordingly, the Company generally will not be subject to Federal income

tax to the extent of its distributions to stockholders and as long as certain asset, income and stock

ownership tests are met. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had a Federal capital loss

carryover of approximately $58,000 available to offset future capital gains.

i P A iy e . -
Receng Acconmnting Fronouncements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” These standards change the accounting for business
combinations by, among other things, prohibiting the prospective use of pooling-of-interests
accounting and requiring companies to stop amortizing goodwill and certain intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives. Instead, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite
useful lives will be subject to an annual review for impairment. The new standards were effective
for the Company in the first quarter of 2002. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 in the first quarter
of 2002, the Company recorded a one-time, noncash adjustment of approximately $6,327 to write
off the unamortized balance of its negative goodwill. Such charge is non-operational in nature and
is reflected as a cumulative effect of an accounting change in the accompanying consolidated state-
ment of operations. Amortization of negative goodwill was $1,942 and $1,062 for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In August of 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No, 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations” (effective January 1, 2003) and SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long Lived Assets” (effective January 1, 2002). SFAS No. 143 requires the recording
of the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is
incurred. SFAS No. 144 supercedes existing accounting literature dealing with impairment and
disposal of long-lived assets, including discontinued operations. It addresses financial accounting
and reporting for the impairment of long-lived assets and for long-lived assets to be disposed of,
and expands current reporting for discontinued operations to include disposals of a “component”
of an entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale. The Company has deter-
mined that these Interpretations do not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated

financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others.” The Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its
financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also

clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for




the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. This Interpretation does not

prescribe a specific approach for subsequently measuring the guarantor’s recognized liability over
the term of the related guarantee. The disclosure provisions of this Interpretation are effective for
the Company’s December 31, 2002 consolidated financial statements. The initial recognition and
initial measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company has determined that this

Interpretation does not currently impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
— Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.” SFAS No. 148 amends
SAFS No. 123 to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, the statement
amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both
annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based compen-
sation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company has determined that

this Interpretation does not currently impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46”). This Interpretation clarifies the application of existing accounting
pronouncements to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. The provisions of
the Interpretation will be immediately effective for all variable interests in variable interest entities
created after January 31, 2003. The Company will need to apply this Interpretation to any existing
variable interests in variable interest entities by no later than July 1, 2003. The Company 1s in the
process of evaluating all of its investments and other interests in entities that may be deemed
variable interest entities under the provisions of FIN 46. These include interests in commercial
mortgage backed securities and their issuers that have issued securities with a total face value of
$9,616,797. The Company’s actual loss is limited to the amounts that are not financed in its non
recourse CDOs. The fair value of the securities financed in the CDOs is $460,210; the amount
held outside of the CDOs is $142,496. The Company's believes that many of these interests and
entities will not be consolidated, and may not ultimately fall under the provisions of FIN 46. The

Company cannot make any definitive conclusion until it completes its evaluation.
Reclassifications

Certain amounts from 2001 and 2000 have been reclassified to conform to the 2002 presentation.
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Note 2 — Securities Available for Sale

The Company’s securities available for sale are carried at estimated fair value. The amortized
cost and estimated fair value of securities available for sale as of December 31, 2002 are

summarized as follows:

Ammoried Usrealized  Unmelimed v
Commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS™:
CMBS (interest only strips) IO’ $ 42,591 $ 1,433 $  (390) $ 43,634
Investment grade CMBS 49,843 5,277 - 55,120
Non-investment grade rated subordinated securities 629,273 19,473 (71,375) 577,371
Non-rated subordinated securities 34,170 1,967 (10,802) 25,335
Credit tenant lease ’ 9,063 - - 9,063
Investment grade REIT debt 174,515 9,464 (157) 183,822
Total CMBS 939,455 37614 (82,724) 894,345
Single-family residential
mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS™):
Agency adjustable rate securities 40,964 510 (175) 41,299
Agency fixed rate securities 8,509 324 - 8,833
Residential CMO’s 13,356 478 - 13,834
" Hybrid Arms 14541210 - 14751
Total RMBS 77,370 1,522 479 78,717
Total securities available for sale $1,016,82 $39,136 $(82,899)  $973,062

As of December 31, 2002, an aggregate of $872,939 in estimated fair value of the Company’s

securities available for sale was pledged to secure its collateralized borrowings.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities available for sale as of December

31, 2001 are summarized as follows:

Eross Bress Estimated

Unrealizzd Untealzed Fai]
Sy Deseron Gast Gan laite
Commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS™): I
CMBS 10’s $ 77470 $ 2,322 $  (588) $ 79,204
Investment grade CMBS 20,318 - (5,728) 14,590
Non-investment grade rated subordinated securities 416,171 3,461 (91,100) 328,532
Non-rated subordinated securities 40,944 1,173 (10,490) 31,627
Total CMBS 554,903 6,956 (107,906) 453,953
Single-family residential
mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”):
Agency adjustable rate securities 74,185 850 - 75,035
Agency fixed rate securities 810,691 3,740 (9,672) 804,759
Residential CMO’s 33,319 203 - 33,522
Home Equity Loans 26,302 997 - 27,299
Hybrid Arms 51,322 64 - 51,386
Total RMBS 995,819 5,854 (9,672) 992,001
Total securities available for sale § 12550,722 $12,810 $(117,578)  $ 1,445,954

A
o




As of December 31, 2001, an aggregate of $1,336,622 in estimated fair value of the Company’s

securities available for sale was pledged to secure its collateralized borrowings.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, there were 1,883 and 1,911 loans, respectively, underlying
the Controlling Class CMBS held by the Company, with a principal balance of $9,616,797
and $9,909,800, respectively.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the aggregate estimated fair values by underlying credit

rating of the Company’s securities available for sale are as follows:

Dol ®0. 2R Deaemae: 87, 2001
; Estimater] Estimatc

Agency and agency insured securities $ 50,132 5.1% $ 875,039 60.5%
AAA 72,923 7.5 160,249 11.1
AA 4,448 0.5 35,917 2.5
A 10,466 1.1 - -
A- 19,116 2.0 - -
BBB+ 93,623 9.6 - -
BBB 101,691 10.4 14,590 1.0
BBB- 17,957 1.8 - -
BB+ 237,839 24.4 74,610 5.2
BB 93,290 9.6 34,246 2.4
BB- 66,844 6.9 56,935 4.0
B+ 21,533 22 19,274 1.3
B 99,815 10.2 93,946 6.5
B- 39,035 4.0 37,954 2.6
CCC 19,015 20 17,637 1.2
Not rated 25,335 27 25,557 1.7
Total securities available for sale $ 973,06 , 100.0% $ 1,445,95; o 79007% 7

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the mortgage loans underlying the Controlling Class
CMBS held by the Company were secured by properties of the types and at the locations
identified below:

Eeicentagel
Properly e 12002 Beograpliie 20024 00
Multifamily 34.3% 34.6% California 12.2% 12.8%
Retail 281 27.9 Texas 10.6 10.7
Office 18.8 18.8 New York 9.1 9.1
Lodging 8.7 8.6 Florida 6.6 7.0
Other 10.1 10.1 Other ® 61.5 60.4
Totajl 7 ) ‘ : —V-I'OO.O% o '150.0% ) Tot;al ) V IOQAOVV"r/o* - 100;0}%

(1) Based on a percentage of the total unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans.
(2) No other individual state comprises more than 5% of the total.
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The following table sets forth certain information relating to the aggregate principal balance
and payment status of delinquent mortgage loans underlying the Controlling Class CMBS
held by the Company as of December 31, 2002 and 2001:

- am 2007

A NGmbe % @l Numivey
_»@;ﬂm@xmu of loans  Collzleral — Principel of Loams

Past due 30 days to 60 days $ 5476 1 0.05% $ 15,401 5

Past due 60 days to 90 davs 49,825 10 . 0. 9,865 4

Past due 90 days or more 102,886 1.07 112,017

Resolved loans - -

Real Estate owned

) 0.23 8,805
Total Delinquent 180,017 36 1.87% 146,088 28 ) 1.47%

Total Principal Balance $ 9,616,797

1,883 $ 9,909,800 1,911
Of the 36 delinquent loans as of December 31, 2002, one was delinquent due to technical
reasons, six were real estate owned and being marketed for sale, three were in foreclosure

and the remaining 26 loans were in some form of workout negotiations.

The Controlling Class CMBS owned by the Company has a delinquency experience of
1.87%, which is consistent with industry averages. During 2002, the Company experienced
early payoffs of $128,344 which represents 1.33% of the year-end pool balance. These loans

were paid-off at par with no loss.

To the extent that realized losses, if any, or such resolutions differ significantly from the
Company’s original loss estimates, it may be necessary to reduce or increase the projected
GAAP yield on the applicable CMBS investment to better reflect such investment’s expected
earnings net of expected losses, from the date of purchase. While realized losses on individual
assets may be higher or lower than original estimates, the Company currently believes its
aggregate loss estimates and GAAP yields remain appropriate.

The CMBS held by the Company consist of subordinated securities collateralized by
adjustable and fixed rate commercial and multifamily mortgage loans. The RMBS held by
the Company consist of adjustable rate and fixed rate residential pass-through or mortgage-
backed securities collateralized by adjustable and fixed rate single-family residential mort-
gage loans. Agency RMBS were issued by FHLMC, FINMA or GNMA. Privately issued
RMBS were issued by entities other than FHLMC, FNMA or GNMA. The Company's

securities available for sale are subject to credit, interest rate and/or prepayment risks.

The CMBS owned by the Company provide credit support to the more senior classes of the
related commercial securitization. The Company generally does not own the senior classes
of its below investment grade CMBS. Cash flow from the mortgages underlying the CMBS
generally is allocated first to the senior classes, with the most senior class having a priority
entitlement to cash flow. Then, any remaining cash flow is allocated generally among the

other CMBS classes in order of their relative seniority. To the extent there are defaults and




unrecoverable losses on the underlying mortgages, resulting in reduced cash flows, the most

subordinated CMBS class will bear this loss first. To the extent there are losses in excess of
the most subordinated class’ stated entitlement to principal and interest, then the remaining
CMBS classes will bear such losses in order of their relative subordination.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the anticipated weighted average unleveraged yield to
maturity based upon adjusted cost of the Company’s entire subordinated CMBS portfolio
was 9.8% and 10.1% per annum, respectively, and of the Company’s other securities
available for sale was 6.8% and 6.04% per annum, respectively. The Company's anticipated
yields to maturity on its subordinated CMBS and other securities available for sale are based
upon a number of assumptions that are subject to certain business and economic uncertainties
and contingencies. Examples of these include, among other things, the rate and timing of
principal payments (including prepayments, repurchases, defaults, liquidations and related
expenses), the pass-through or coupon rate and interest rate fluctuations. Additional factors
that may affect the Company’s anticipated yields to maturity on its subordinated CMBS
include interest payment shortfalls due to delinquencies on the underlying mortgage loans,
and the timing and magnitude of credit losses on the mortgage loans underlying the subordi-
nated CMBS that are a result of the general condition of the real estate market (including
competition for tenants and their related credit quality) and changes in market rental rates.
As these uncertainties and contingencies are difficult to predict and are subject to future
events which may alter these assumptions, no assurance can be given that the anticipated

yields to maturity, discussed above and elsewhere, will be achieved.

The agency adjustable rate RMBS held by the Company are subject to periodic and lifetime
caps that limit the amount the interest rates of such securities can change during any given
period and over the life of the loan. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, adjustable rate
RMBS with a market value of $41,299 and $75,035, respectively, is included in securities

available for sale on the consolidated statement of financial condition.

As of December 31, 2002, the unamortized net discount on all securities available for sale was

$1,179,098, which represented 53.69% of the then remaining face amount of such securities.

During 2002, the Company sold securities available for sale for total proceeds of $1,017,534,
resulting in a realized gain of $11,391. During 2001, the Company sold securities available
for sale for total proceeds of $1,786,400, resulting in a realized gain of $7,401.

Included in CDO II was a ramp facility that will be utilized to fund the purchase of $50,000
of par of below investment grade CMBS. On March 14, 2003, the Company purchased
$78,027 par of securities in CSFB 2003-CPN1. Of this purchase, $30,000 par will be
contributed into the ramp facility for CDO 11, and $48,027 will be held outside of CDO 1L

U
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Note 3 — Securities Held for Trading

Securities held for trading are generally RMBS that the Company intends to hold for a short
period of time. During the fiscal year 2002, the Company discontinued its active short-term
trading strategies, which the Company employed from time to time to generate economic

and taxable gains. The RMBS classified as held for trading are actively hedged using treasury

futures, interest rate swap agreements and forward sales and purchases of agency RMBS.

The Company's securities held for trading are carried at estimated fair value. At December
31, 2002, the Company’s securities held for trading consisted of FNMA and Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corp. mortgage pools with an estimated fair value of $1,427,733; and short
positions of 3,166 five-year and 1,126 ten-year U.S. Treasury Note future contracts, which
represented $316,600 and $112,600 in face amount of U.S. Treasury Notes, respectively. The
estimated fair value of the contracts was approximately $476,676 at December 31, 2002. At
December 31, 2001, the Company’s securities held for trading consisted of FNMA and
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. mortgage pools with an estimated fair value of
$578,008 and short positions of 80 thirty-year U.S. Treasury Bond future contracts and 500
ten-year U.S. Treasury Note future contracts expiring in March 2002, which represented
$50,000 and $8,000 in face amount of U.S. Treasury Bonds and Notes, respectively. The
estimated fair value of these contracts was approximately $(61,235) at December 31, 2001.
Also, the Company had outstanding a short position of 140 Eurodollar futures of which

35 expire in each of June, September and December 2003 and 35 in March 2004, and an out-
standing short call swzption with a notional amount of $400,000, which expires in December
2004. The estimated fair value of these Eurodollar futures contracts was approximately
$(32,987) and the estimated fair value of the swaption contract was approximately $(10,500)
as of December 31, 2001. During 2002, the Company closed the all Eurodollar future

positions and the swaption position.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, adjustable rate RMBS with a market value of $21,864
and $38,258, respectively, is included in securities held for trading on the consolidated

statement of financial condition.

The Company’s trading strategies are subject to the risk of unanticipated changes in the
relative prices of long and short positions in trading securities, but are designed to be

relatively unaffected by changes in the overall level of interest rates.




Note 4 — Commercial Mortgage Loans

The following table summarizes the Company’s loan investments at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

Y N L
gRinvesimeni@oiREpaymentoiSale Te P02 2 2002 200
’12/17/01 4/9/04 Tyson’s Corner, V;X‘” Office o $ 22,000 7;22,0&)‘ 7 8;°A/;N GB;;A
12/20/00 121902 LosAngeles, CA  Office 18438 2250 114 | 127
70l 1107 SanFrancisco, CA®  Office 1099 10987 72 72
woer uave SnFrancisco, CA®  Office 9819 9889 67 67
5/17/02 ""15;1‘1'/51"“'7 Mldvx;;s;;’- o Retail V V 57,75007 - - ' 10.07 7 -
R
8/26/98 iz London, Eng and“) ‘Hoyel - 31,199 N 81
8/15/00; _1}/1/02 o San Francisco, CA’” I:iotel ) '_*' ) 7’17,892* o -_ 84
~~9~/22/—OO ~—i1~_0/2;4/02_ : Chlcago,‘f R Mulnfamxly h - IS,OOCVJ4 L 20.0
06/25/01 " 4/16/02 ) ﬂezYork, NY“i_ A'—EE o - 13 170 7-—— 5.8 V

$ 673679 $ 142,637

(1) The entire principal balance of the Company’s investment is pledged to secure line of credit borrowings.
(2) Two subordinate interests in a $125,000 note secured by one 11-story office building. The entire principal balance of the Company’s investment is

pledged to secure collateralized debt obligations.

(3) Secured by the partnership interests in three super regional malls. The security interest in each of the malls are cross-collateralized and contain cross-
default provisions. The loan was issued at a discount, which will amortize to its par value at a yield to maturity of 13.2%. Payments are interest only
and reset monthly based upon 2 one month LIBOR spread. The loan was paid off in full on January 10, 2003. In conjunction with this investment,
the Company purchased a 1.46% interest only strip off of a B Note secured by a portfolio of apartments (5,389 units). Payments received are the

greater of 1.5% or 9.5% less LIBOR+450, based upon a notional par value,

(4) The exchange rate for the British pound ar December 31, 2001 was £0.687852 to US $1.00. The entire principal balance of the Company's investment

in the London Loan was pledged to secure line of credit borrowings. The loan and the line of credit matured on 12/17/02.
{5) The entire principal balance of the Company’s investment was pledged to secure line of credit borrowings. The loan and the line of credit matured on 11/1/02.
(6) The entire principal balance of the Company's investment is pledged to secure reverse repurchase agreements. The loan and the line of credit matured on 4/16/02.

Pag  Boat: Vel

Resensiiiadon of commersial loaqs:

~ Balance at beginning of period o $153187 $153,187

~ Proceeds from repayment of mortgage loans o (eee20)  (66,620)
Investments in commercial mortgage loans o 56,070 V o 56070
Blance s: December 31,2001 Y omey

_Dlscollixiaccretlo_rl o - - 40
Proceeds from_r;pa;;rlent o} mortgage loans ‘ N 7;31:71) A o ESO 383)
Recil;ét)on in notional par value o (170) o - —
Inves;r—r;ents 1r;_c_§mmerc1a1 mortgage Ioans 7 6 683 - 3,370 o
_______ . . $67 679 7 S M$65,664

" Balance at December 31, 2002

Note 5 — Equity Investment and Real Estate Joint Ventures

On July 20, 2000, the Company made an investment aggregating $5,121 in two limited partnerships

for the purpose of purchasing a ninety nine thousand square foot office building and a one hundred

twenty thousand square foot office building, both of which are located in suburban Philadelphia.

The Company’s ownership interest is 64.81% in each partnership. The Company receives a

un
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preferred return of 12% compounded on its unreturned capital, which is payable monthly and a
share of the proceeds from a sale or refinancing. The book value of the partnerships at December
31,2002 and 2001 was $3,149 and $3,159, respectively. In January 2003, the Company received a
return of capital distribution from the partnerships in the amount of $400.

On December 14, 2000, the Company made an investment aggregating approximately $5,149 in a

limited liability company and received a 36.4% senior interest. The joint venture was established
for the purpose of acquiring a five hundred thousand square foot office and retail complex in
Tallahassee, Florida. The Company receives a preferred return of 13.25% and a return of capital of
$3, which is payable monthly. The book value of the investment at December 31, 2002 and 2001
was $5,116 and $5,158, respectively.

On July 20, 2001, the Company entered into a $50 million commitment to acquire shares in
Carbon Capital, Inc. (“Carbon”), a private commercial real estate income opportunity fund
managed by BlackRock Financial Management, Inc., who is also the manager of the Company

(Note 10 of the consolidated financial statements). The period during which the Company may be

required to purchase shares under the commitment expires in July 2004. On November 5, 2001,
the Company received a capital call notice to fund $8,784 of its Carbon investment, which was
paid on November 19, 2001. On October 30, 2002, the Company funded an additional capital call
notice in the amount of $6,100. The proceeds of the capital calls were used by Carbon primarily
to acquire commercial loans secured by real estate or ownership interests in entities that own real
estate. On December 31, 2001, the Company owned 32.5% of the outstanding shares in Carbon.
In March 2002, Carbor: obtained additional commitments from unaffiliated institutional investors
while the Company’s commitment remained unchanged. Accordingly, the Company’s ownership
was reduced from 32.5% to 18.8%. On December 30, 2002, the Company received dividends of
$1,089. The Company’s remaining commitment at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $35,116 and
$41,216, respectively. On February 6, 2003, the Company funded an additional capital call notice
in the amount of $2,680, which was used by Carbon to acquire a mezzanine loan secured by

ownership interests in an entity that owns a mixed-use development.

Combined summarized financial information of the unconsolidated equity investment and real estate

joint ventures of the Company s as follows:

Bassmier 31,
) B
Balance Sheets
©Real estate property s w2 ssso
. Commercial mortgage loans,net 178429 26469
 Other assets - S ib,533 7 - 4—“78,687
Total Asses e 33304 $ 93234
MongagédAeI;t— o . T $ 30,846 $ 45,&33"7"”
Other liabﬂitiesr o T 103,954 S '"AZ.,HZSIW o
“A—‘Prarmers’, members’ and shareholders’ equitf T V9§:§6A—tﬂ - ‘45,436” ererer
' Total liabilities and shareholders’ equicy ~ $ 233304 593234
' Anthracite Capital, Incs share of equity s m2e2 sa700
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2002 00 2800
Statements of Operations:
© Revenues a T s 1119 $1723
Expenses S T T T
-  Interestexpemse T 4z 3% o1
' ﬁepreciatmla amortization ) © 2,203 » 1,840 317
Oper;ting exp_c;nses o N 5,611 3,560 ‘5§9
Total éxpenses i o 12,691 9,196 1,777
Net Income - T 7210 $ 1923 0§ (54
An;f;a;ig(iéital, Iné.’s share ;f net in%:(?rng o $ 2;246 $ 1,747 $ 348

The following tables summarizes the loan investments held by Carbon Capital, Inc. at December
31,2002 and 2001:

MM of ' 5

© e ISeheduled (Prepary -

lesimen) e g
11/19/01 9/11/04 New York, NY®® Office $ 10,000 $ 10,000
2000 1211007 " SanFrancisco, CA®  Office 1207 12,138
2ATIOT 404 Tysons Corne, VA®  Office 10000 10,000
5A7/2 121104 Midwesth® Rewil 14,500 o

s/17/02 tiod Southwest® " Residential 12487 -
10/16/02 ;jl/o} ”‘i__:é:@gp?_lﬂ” ~ Office 71,9572_;___A -
11/ l/ég o 1 1}9/04 7 San I;rancisco, CA® 7 Hotel ) i ] @OOO -

$ 196,010 $32,138

(1) May be extended at the borrower’s option for two additional twelve-month periods, subject to certain performance hurdles and an extension fee of $425 for the
first extension and $413 for the second extension.

(2) Anthracite Capital, Inc. owns two subordinate interests, which are senior to the interest owned by Carbon Capital, Inc.

(3) May be extended at the borrower’s options for two additional twelve-month periods for a .25% extension fee.

(#) Secured by the partnership interests in three super regional malls. The security interests in each of the malls are cross-collateralized and contain cross-default”
provisions.  The loan was paid off in full on January 10, 2003, In conjunction with this investment, Carbon Capital, Inc. purchased a 1.46% interest only strip
off of a B Note secured by a portfolio of apartments (5,389 units). Anthracite Capital, Inc, owns subordinate interests in these investments, which are pari passu
to those owned by Carbon Capital, Inc.

(5) The entire principal balance is pledged to secure reverse repurchase agreements.

(6) Represents a $30,000 subordinate interest in a $160,000 note secured by a full service hotel and a $35,000 mezzanine loan, secured by the borrower’s interest in
the same property. May be extended at the borrower’s option for three additional twelve-month periods for a .25% extension fee. There is a fee due for the
second and third extension of 0.125% per extension. The entire principal balance is pledged to secure reverse repurchase agreements.

At December 31, 2002, the weighted average interest spread and the weighted average yield
of loan investments held by Carbon Capital, Inc. was 8.6% and 9.9%, respectively. At
December 31, 2001, the weighted average interest spread and the weighted average yield

of the loan investments held by Carbon Capital, Inc., was 7.4% and 11.7%, respectively.
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Note 6 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” requires the disclosure of the
estimated fair value of financial instruments. The following table presents the notional amount, carrying
value and estimated fair value of financial instruments as of December 31, 2002 and 2001:

2007
et Valve Faip Velug Aol Vallie] (Fedr Yk

Securities available for sale - $ 973,062 $ 973,062 $1,445,954  § 1,445,954
Securities held for trading 1,427,733 1,427,733 564,081 564,081
Commercial mortgage loans - 65,664 65,664 142,637 146,635
Secured borrowings - 2,161,661 2,161,661 (1,835,938 (1,835,938)
Currency forward contracts - 365 365 12,350 (489) (489)
Interest rate swap agreements 1,162,832 (45,602) (45,602) 792,000 (9,380) (9,380)
Futures 4,292 (476,676)  (476,676) 930,000 (94,221) (94,221)

The currency forward contracts as of December 31, 2002 is comprised of two offsetting
currency forward contracts which net to a notional amount of zero. Notional amounts

are a unit of measure specified in a derivative instrument. The fair values of the Company’s
securities available for sale, securities held for trading, mortgage loan pools, currency
forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements are based on market prices provided by
certain dealers who make markets in these financial instruments. The fair values reported
reflect estimates and may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts the Company could
realize in a current market exchange. Commercial mortgage loans and secured borrowings

are floating rate instruments, therefore their carrying value approximates fair value.

ﬁote 7 — Ingpairment —CMBS

The FMACT 1998-BA class B security continues to perform poorly. Based on the information
provided by the trustee, as of December 16, 2002, of the 71 borrowers in the loan pool
underlying this security, there are 8 borrowers with loans in the amount of $36,741 which
are in default, 10 borrowers with loans in the amount of $23,722 which are delinquent, and
53 borrowers with loans in the amount of $135,292 which are current. During the fourth
quarter of 2002, the servicer of the underlying loans recouped principal and interest
advances made in prior years. This action resulted, at least temporarily, in insufficient

cash being available to make the payments required on the Company’s class B security.

Based on the delinquencies and defaults in the underlying pools, and the missed payments
during the fourth quarter of 2002 as described above, the Company revised its estimated
future cash flows from this investment. Accordingly, in accordance with EITF 99-20, the
Company determined that its investment was impaired and wrote down the adjusted
purchase price of this security by $10,273 to its estimated fair value and increased the GAAP
yield from 7.69% to a market yield for a security of this credit quality, estimated to be 20%.




These figures incorporate the assumption that an additional $31,203 of losses will be

experienced by the underlying pools and an estimate of another 1.0% of losses per year over
the remaining life of the trust. This security was part of the CORE Cap acquisition in May
of 2000 and was rated AA at that time. This security is currently rated D by Standard &
Poors and CC by Fitch Ratings.

Note 8§ — Common Stock

On July 11, 2001, the Company filed a registration statement to register with the SEC an
additional 10,000,000 shares of Common Stock to be issued under its Dividend Reinvestment
and Stock Purchase Plan (the “Dividend Reinvestment Plan”). The Dividend Reinvestment
Plan allows investors the opportunity to purchase additional shares of the Company’s
Common Stock through the reinvestment of the Company’s dividends, optional cash

payments and initial cash investments.

On September 21, 2001, the Company filed a registration statement to register an additional
$300,000 of securities with the SEC. The shelf registration statement permits the Company
to issue a variety of debt and equity securities in the public markets. There can be no certainty,
however, that the Company will be able to issue, on terms favorable to the Company, or at

all, any of the securities so registered.

On February 14, 2001, the Company completed a follow-on offering of 4,000,000 shares

of its Common Stock in an underwritten public offering. The aggregate net proceeds to the
Company (after deducting underwriting fees and expenses) was approximately $33,300. The
Company had granted the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to
600,000 additional shares of Common Stock to cover over-allotments. This option was exercised
on March 13, 2001 and resulted in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $5,000.

On May 11, 2001, the Company completed a follow-on offering of 4,000,000 shares of its
Common Stock in an underwritten public offering. The aggregate net proceeds to the Company
(after deducting underwriting fees and expenses) was approximately $37,800. The Company had
granted the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to 600,000 additional
shares of Common Stock to cover over-allotments. This option was exercised on June 6, 2001

and resulted in additional net proceeds to the Company of approximately $5,675.

On November 7, 2001, the Company completed a follow-on offering of 4,400,000 shares

of its Common Stock in an underwritten public offering. The aggregate net proceeds to the
Company (after deducting underwriting fees and expenses) was approximately $39,400. On
November 13, 2001, the underwriters exercised an option to purchase an additional 90,000
shares of Company Common Stock available through an over-allotment granted to the
underwriters and resulted in additional net proceeds to the Company of approximately $810.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company issued 1,455,725 shares of Common

Stock under its Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Net proceeds to the Company was approximately
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$15,920. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company issued 2,228,566 shares of
Common Stock under its Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Net proceeds to the Company was

approximately $22,945.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company declared dividends to stockholders
totaling $65,366 or $1.40 per share, of which $48,777 was paid during the year and $16,589

was paid on January 31, 2003. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
declared dividends to stockholders totaling $47,458 or $1.29 per share, of which $31,607
was paid during the year and $15,850 was paid on January 31, 2002.

On March 6, 2003, the Company declared dividends to its stockholders of $.35 per share,
payable on April 30, 2003 to stockholders of record on March 31, 2003. For U.S. Federal

income tax purposes, the dividends are ordinary income to the Company’s stockholders.

Note 9 — Preferred St,?fk,

On December 2, 1999, the Company authorized and issued 1,200,000 shares of 10.5% Series
A Senior Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock™), $0.001 par
value per share, for aggregate proceeds of $30,000. The Series A Preferred Stock carries a
10.5% coupon and is convertible into the Company’s Common Stock at a price of $7.35 per
share. The Series A Preferred Stock has a seven-year maturity at which time, at the option of
the holders, the shares may be converted into shares of Common Stock or liquidated
(“Liquidation Preference”) for $28.50 per share. On December 21, 2001, the only Series A
Preferred stockholder converted 1,190,000 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock into
4,096,854 shares of Common Stock at a price of $7.26 per share pursuant to its terms, which is
$0.09 lower than the original conversion price due to the effects of anti-dilution provisions in
the Series A Preferred Stock. The remaining 10,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were
converted into 34,427 shares of Common Stock at a price of $7.26 per share in March 2002.

The Series A Preferred Stock was privately sold by the Company, and there was no
underwriting discount paid. At the closing of the CORE Cap merger (see Note 14 of the
consolidated financial statements), the Liquidation Preference of the Series A Preferred
Stock was increased from $27.75 to $28.50 per share.

As part of the CORE Cap merger, the Company authorized and issued 2,261,000 shares of
10% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred
Stock”), $0.001 par value per share, to CORE Cap shareholders. The Series B Preferred
Stock is perpetual, carries a 10% coupon, has a preference in liquidation as of December 31,
2002 of $47,817, and is convertible into the Company’s Common Stock at a price of $17.09
per share, subject to adjustment. If converted, the Series B Preferred Stock would convert
into approximately 2,798,180 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. In 2002, 300,000
shares of 10% Series B Preferred Stock with a liquidation preference of $7,500 were
converted at the shareholder’s option into 438,885 shares of the Company’s Common stock.




In 2001, 48,300 shares of 10% Series B Preferred Stock with a liquidation preference of $1,207

were converted at the shareholder’s option into 70,660 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has authorized and unissued 96,539,000 shares of
preferred stock.

Note 10 — Transactions with Affiliates

The Company has a Management Agreement with the “Manager,” a majority owned indi-
rect subsidiary of PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (“PNC Bank”) and the employer of
certain directors and officers of the Company, under which the Manager manages the
Company’s day-to-day operations, subject to the direction and oversight of the Company’s
Board of Directors. The initial two-year term of the Management Agreement was to expire
on March 27, 2000; on March 16, 2000, the Management Agreement was extended for an
additional two years, with the approval of the unaffiliated directors, on terms similar to the
original agreement. On March 25, 2002, the Management Agreement was extended for one
year through March 27, 2003, with the approval of the unaffiliated directors, on terms
similar to the prior agreement with the following changes: (i) the incentive fee calculation
would be based on GAAP earnings instead of funds from operations, (ii) the removal of the
four-year period to value the Management Agreement in the event of termination and (ii1)
subsequent renewal periods of the Management Agreement would be for one year instead of
two years. The Board was advised by Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin Financial Advisors,

Inc., a national investment banking and financial advisory firm, in the renewal process.

On March 6, 2003, the unaffiliated directors approved an extension of the Management
Agreement from its expiration of March 27, 2003 for one year through March 31, 2004. The
terms of the renewed agreement are similar to the prior agreement except for the incentive
fee calculation which would provide for a rolling four-quarter high watermark rather than a
quarterly calculation. In determining the rolling four-quarter high watermark, the Company
would calculate the incentive fee based upon the current and prior three quarters’ net
income. The Manager would be paid an incentive fee in the current quarter if the Yearly
Incentive Fee is greater than what was paid to the Manager in the prior three quarters cumu-
latively. The Company will phase in the rolling four-quarter high watermark commencing
with the second quarter of 2003. Calculation of the incentive fee will be based on GAAP
and adjusted to exclude special one-time events pursuant to changes in GAAP accounting
pronouncements after discussion between Manager and the unaffiliated directors. The
incentive fee threshold did not change. The high watermark will be based on the existing
incentive fee hurdle, which provides for the Manager to be paid 25% of the amount of
earnings (calculated in accordance with GAAP) per share that exceeds the product of the
adjusted issue price of the Company’s common stock per share ($11.39 as of December 31,

2002) and the greater of 9.5% or 350 basis points over the ten-year Treasury note.

The Company pays the Manager an annual base management fee equal to a percentage of the

average invested assets of the Company as defined in the Management Agreement. The base man- 59




agement fee is equal to 1% per annum of the average invested assets rated less than BB- or not
rated, 0.75% of average invested assets rated BB- to BB+, and 0.20% of average invested assets
rated above BB+. In order to coincide with the increased size of the Company, effective July 1,
2001, the Manager reduced the base management fee from 0.35% of average invested assets rated
above BB+. This revision resulted in $2,360 and $1,059 in savings to the Company during 2002
and 2001, respectively.

The Company incurred $9,332, $7,780 and $6,483 in base management fees in accordance with the

terms of the Management Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. In accordance with the provisions of the Management Agreement, the Company
recorded reimbursements to the Manager of $14, $216 and $120 for certain expenses incurred on
behalf of the Company during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has also paid the Manager on a quarterly basis, as incentive compensation, an
amount equal to 25% of the funds from operations of the Company (as defined) plus gains
(minus losses) from debt restructuring and sales of property, before incentive compensation in
excess of a threshold rate. The threshold rate for 1999, 2000, and the six months ended June 30,
2001 was based upon an annualized return on equity equal to 3.5% over the ten year U.S.
Treasury Rate on the adjusted issue price of the Common Stock. Effect July 1, 2001, the Manager
revised the threshold rate to be the greater of 3.5% over the ten-year U.S. Treasury Rate or 9.5%.
This revision resulted in $918 and $630 in savings to the Company during 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Pursuant to the March 25, 2002 one-year Management Agreement extension, such incentive fee
was based on 25% of earnings (calculated in accordance with GAAP) of the Company. For pur-
poses of the incentive compensation calculation, equity is generally defined as proceeds from
1ssuance of Common Stock before underwriting discounts and commissions and other costs of
issuance. For purposes of calculating the incentive fee during 2002, the cumulative transition adjust-
ment of $6,327 resulting from the Company’s adoption of SFAS 142 was excluded from earnings in
its entirety and included using an amortization period of three years. This revision saved the
Company $1,314 of incentive fee during 2002. The Company incurred $3,195, $3,238 and $967 in
incentive compensation for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

On March 17, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an administration agreement
with the Manager and the termination of a previous agreement with an unaffiliated third party.
Under the terms of the administration agreement, the Manager provides financial reporting, audit
coordination and accounting oversight services to the Company. The Company pays the Manager
a monthly administrative fee at an annual rate of 0.06% of the first $125 million of average net
assets, 0.04% of the next $125 million of average net assets and 0.03% of average net assets in excess
of $250 million subject to a minimum annual fee of $120. For the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, the Company paid administration fees of $168, $144 and $120, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company purchased certificates representing a 1%
interest in Midland Commercial Mortgage Owner Trust IV, Midland Commercial Mortgage
Owner Trust V, Midland Commercial Mortgage Owner Trust VI, Commercial Mortgage Owner
Trust VII, PNC Loan Trust VII and PNC Loan Trust VIII (collectively the “Trusts”) for an




aggregate investment of $7,021. These Midland Trusts were purchased from Midland Loan
Services, Inc. (“Midland”) and the PNC trusts were purchased from PNC Bank. Midland is a
wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of PNC Bank and the depositor to the Trusts. The assets of the

Trusts consist of commercial mortgage loans originated or acquired by Midland and PNC Bank.
In connection with these transactions, the Company entered into a $4,500 committed line of cred-
it from PNC Funding Corp., a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of PNC Bank, to borrow up to
90% of the fair market value of the Company’s interest in the Trusts. Outstanding borrowings
against this line of credit bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate. As of December 31, 2001
and 2000 there were no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit. The Company earned
$163 and $33 from the Trusts and paid interest of approximately $138 and $20 to PNC Funding
Corp. during years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Midland Trusts were all
sold prior to December 31, 2000. The gain on sale of these investments was not significant.

In March 2001, the Company purchased twelve certificates each representing a 1% interest in
different classes of Owner Trust NS I Trust (“Owner Trusts”) for an aggregate investment of
$37,868. These certificates were purchased from PNC Bank. The assets of the Owner Trusts
consist of commercial mortgage loans originated or acquired by an affiliate of PNC Bank. The
Company entered into a $50,000 committed line of credit from PNC Funding Corp. to borrow
up to 95% of the fair market value of the Company’s interest in the Owner Trusts. Outstanding
borrowings against this line of credit bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate. As of
December 31, 2001, there was $13,885 borrowed under this line of credit. The Company earned
$1,468 from the Owner Trusts and paid interest of approximately $849 to PNC Funding Corp. as
interest on borrowings under a related line of credit for year ended December 31, 2001. During
2001, the Company sold four Owner Trusts. The gain on the sale of those Owner Trusts was $35.
The outstanding borrowings were repaid prior to the expiration on March 13, 2002, at which time
the remaining Owner Trusts were sold at a gain of $90.

On July 20, 2001, the Company entered into a $50 million commitment to acquire shares in
Carbon Capital, Inc. (“Carbon”), a private commercial real estate income opportunity fund man-
aged by the Manager (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements). The period during which
the Company may be required to purchase shares under the commitment, expires in July 2004.

On May 15, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of CORE Cap, Inc. The merger was a
stock for stock acquisition where the Company issued 4,180,552 shares of its common stock and
2,261,000 shares of its series B preferred stock. At the time of the CORE Cap acquisition, the
Manager agreed to pay GMAC (CORE Cap, Inc’s external advisor) $12,500 over a ten-year
period (“Installment Payment”) to purchase the right to manage the assets under the existing
management contract (“GMAC Contract”). The GMAC Contract had to be terminated in order
to allow for the Company to complete the merger, as the Company’s management agreement
with the Manager did not provide for multiple managers. As a result the Manager offered to
buy-out the GMAC contract as the Manager estimated it would receive incremental fees above
and beyond the Installment Payment, and thus was willing to pay for, and separately negotiate,
the termination of the GMAC Contract. Accordingly, the value of the Installment Payment was

not considered in the Company’s allocation of its purchase price to the net assets acquired in the




acquisition of CORE Cap, Inc. The Company agreed that should the Management Agreement
with its Manager be terminated, not renewed or not extended for any reason other than for cause,
the Company would pay to the Manager an amount equal to the Installment Payment less the
sum of all payments made by the Manager to GMAC. As of December 31, 2002, the Installment
Payment would be $9,500 payable over eight years. The Company does not accrue for this
contingent liability.

Note 11 — Stock Options

The Company has adopted a stock option plan (the “1998 Stock Option Plan”) that provides for the
grant of both qualified incentive stock options that meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Code
and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights and dividend equivalent rights. Stock options

may be granted to the Manager, directors, officers and any key employees of the Company, directors,

officers and key employees of the Manager and to any other individual or entity performing services

for the Company.

The exercise price for any stock option granted under the 1998 Stock Option Plan may not be less than
100% of the fair market value of the shares of Common Stock at the time the option is granted. Each
option must terminate no more than ten years from the date it is granted. Subject to anti-dilution
provisions for stock splits, stock dividends and similar events, the 1998 Stock Option Plan authorizes
the grant of options to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,470,453 shares of Common Stock.

For option grants prior to December 15, 1998, the Company considered its officers and directors to be
employees for the purposes of stock option accounting. In accordance with the FASB’s Interpretation
No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation,” the Company’s

officers and directors are not considered to be employees for grants made subsequent to that date.

Of the options issued under the 1998 Stock Option Plan, options covering 979,426 shares of
Common Stock were granted prior to December 15, 1998 to individuals deemed to be employees.
The Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” for such options. Accordingly, no compensation cost for these options has
been recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. Had compensation cost for these
options been determined based on the fair value of the options at the grant date consistent with
the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income and net income per share would have

changed to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Net income — as reported $ 59,955 $ 56,271 $39,326
Net income ~ pro forma 59,955 56,218 39,158
Net income per common share, basic — as reported 118 1.41 1.37
Net income per common share, basic — pro forma 1.18 1.41 1.36
Net income per common share, diluted - as reported 1.18 1.35 1.28
Net income per common share, diluted - pro forma 1.18 1.35 1.28
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For the pro forma, the compensation cost is amortized over the vesting period of the options.

For the options to purchase 786,915 shares of the Company’s Common Stock granted to
non-employees under the 1998 Stock Option Plan, compensation cost is accrued based on the
estimated fair value of the options issued and amortized over the vesting period. Because
vesting of the options is contingent upon the recipient continuing to provide services to the
Company to the vesting date, the Company estimates the fair value of the non-employee
options at each period end, up to the vesting date, and adjusts expensed amounts accordingly.

The value of these non-employee options at each period end was negligible and was fully
vested by March 2002.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in the

period ending December 31, 2000. There were no options granted in 2002 and 2001.

Deezmber 31, 2000

Estimated volatility 25%
Expected life 7 years
Risk-free interest rate 6.0%
Expected dividend yield 11.35%

On May 15, 2000, pursuant to the acquisition of CORE Cap, the Company granted stock
options to the directors of CORE Cap similar in term and vesting to the stock options the
directors held immediately prior to the date of acquisition. The strike price was adjusted for

the effect of the acquisition. The options granted are as follows:

@G Exeveise %

Giianted) Price lested

76,998 $15.58 100% B
15,400 15.84 100%

15,400 9.11 100%

15,400 7.82 100%

The fair value of the CORE Cap option grants at the grant date was estimated by the Company
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The resulting valuation was negligible.
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The following table summarizes information about options outstanding under the 1998 Stock

Option Plan:

Outstanding at January 1
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled

Outstanding at December 31

Options exercisable at December 31

Weighted-average fair value
of options granted during
the vear ended December 31
{per option)

Wigltad-

A (]
Erareise
Price

Shanes

1,766,341
0
(182,700)
(23,099)

1,560,342

$13.87
o]

8.33
15.63

$14.49

$14.49

2201
Waighie-

Sleres

1,766,341
0
0
0

1,766,341

1,400,554

A.'
E;

$13.87

12.91
$13.87

$13.70

908

Weigiied-

AVEane!

Exereise]

Strates Frieg

1,718,143 $14.03
193,198 11.73
0 0
(145,000) 1291

1,766,341 $13.87
919,770 $14.02

$0.12

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding under the 1998 Stock
Option Plan at December 31, 2002:

(Eremess
7.82
8.44
9.11

15.00
15.58

Bpliog:
Ouistandiang
&) Desember $7.2002
11,550
105,000
11,550
1,363,143
57,749
11,550

1,560,542

m@mumnm%

7.1 Years
6.2 Years
6.2 Years
5.2 Years
4.7 Years
5.2 Years

5.31 Years

P
11,550
105,000
11,550
1,363,143
57,749

1,560,542

Shares of Common Stock available for future grant under the 1998 Stock Option Plan at
December 31, 2002 were 727,211,

Note 12 — Borrowings

The Company’s borrowings consist of lines of credit, CDO, and reverse repurchase borrowings.

On January 15, 2002, the Company renewed a credit facility with Merrill Lynch Mortgage
Capital, Inc. for a twelve-month period, which permits the Company to borrow up to
$200,000. As of December 31, 2002, there were no outstanding borrowings under this
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facility. As of December 31, 2001, the outstanding borrowings under this line of credit were
$57,113. The agreement requires assets to be pledged as collateral, which may consist of rated
CMBS, rated RMBS, residential and commercial mortgage loans, and certain other assets.
Outstanding borrowings under this line of credit bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate.

he facility expired pursvant to its terms.

On July 19, 1999, the Company entered into a $185,000 committed credit facility with Deutsche
Bank, AG (the “Deutsche Bank Facility”). The Deutsche Bank Facility has a two-year term and
provides for extensions at the Company’s option. The Deutsche Bank Facility was extended for a
one-year term through July 19, 2002. The facility was extended a second time through July 15,
2005. The Deutsche Bank Facility can be used to replace existing reverse repurchase agreement
borrowings and to finance the acquisition of mortgage-backed securities, loan investments and
investments in real estate joint ventures. As of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, the
outstanding borrowings under this facility were $19,189 and $43,409, respectively. Outstanding
borrowings under the Deutsche Bank Facility bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate.

On July 18, 2002, the Company entered into a $75,000 commuitted credit facility with
Greenwich Capital, Inc. The facility provides the Company with the ability to borrow only
in the first year with repayment of principal not due for three years. Outstanding borrowings
under this line of credit bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate. As of December 31,
2002, there were no borrowings under this facility.

The Company is subject to various covenants in its lines of credit, including maintaining a
minimum GAAP net worth of $305,000, a debt-to-equity ratio not to exceed 5.5 to 1, a
minimum cash requirement based upon certain debt-to-equity ratios, a minimum debt service
coverage ratio of 1.5 and a minimum liquidity reserve of $10,000. As of December 31, 2002

and 2001, the Company was in compliance with all such covenants.

On May 29, 2002, the Company issued ten tranches of secured debt through CDO I. In this
transaction, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued secured debt in the par amount of
$419,185 secured by the subsidiary’s assets. The adjusted issue price of the CDO I debt, as of
December 31, 2002, is $403,983. Five tranches were issued at a fixed rate coupon and five tranches
were issued at a floating rate coupon with a combined weighted average remaining maturity of 9.29
years. All floating rate coupons were swapped to fixed resulting in a total fixed rate cost of funds

for CDO I of approximately 7.21%. The Company incurred $9,857 of issuance costs which will be
amortized over the weighted average life of the CDO. The CDO was structured to match fund the
cash flows from a significant portion of the Company’s CMBS and unsecured real estate investment
trust debt portfolio (“REIT debt™). The par amount as of December 31, 2002 of the collateral
securing CDO I consists of 78% CMBS rated B or higher and 22% REIT debt rated BBB or higher.
As of December 31, 2002, the collateral securing the CDO I has a fair value of $443,511.

On December 10, 2002, the Company issued seven tranches of secured debt through CDOII. In
this transaction, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued secured debt in the par amount
of $280,783 secured by the subsidiary’s assets. The adjusted issue price of the CDO II debt
as of December 31, 2002 is $280,607. Four tranches were issued at a fixed rate coupon and
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three tranches were issued at a floating rate coupon with a combined weighted average

remaining maturity of 9.34 years. All floating rate coupons were swapped to fixed resulting
in a total fixed rate cost of funds for CDO II of approximately 5.73%. The Company
incurred $6,028 of issuance costs which will be amortized over the weighted average life of
the CDO. The CDO was structured to match fund the cash flows from a significant portion
of the Company’s CMBS and unsecured real estate investment trust debt portfolio (REIT
debt). The par amount as of December 31, 2002 of the collateral securing CDO 1I consists of
78% CMBS rated B or higher and 22% REIT debt rated BBB or higher. As of December 31,
2002, the collateral securing CDO 11 has a fair value of $283,258.

Proceeds from the CDOs were used to pay off all of the financing of the Company’s CMBS
below investment grade portfolio, BBB portfolio and its REIT debt. Prior to the CDOs,
these portfolios were financed with thirty-day repurchase agreements with various counter-
parties that marked the assets to market on a daily basis at interest rates based on 30-day
LIBOR. For accounting purposes, these transactions were treated as a secured financing,

and the debt is non-recourse to the Company.

The Company has entered into reverse repurchase agreements to finance most of its securities
available for sale that are not financed under its lines of credit or from the issuance of its
collateralized debt obligations. The reverse repurchase agreements are collateralized by most

of the Company’s securities available for sale and bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate.

Certain information with respect to the Company’s collateralized borrowings as of

December 31, 2002 is summarized as follows:

Greditfand RENUGENASE] Delt Eoliateralized)

Teim Obligations] Bomewings
Outstanding borrowings $19,189 $ 1,457,882 $ 684,590 $ 2,161,661
Weighted average borrowing rate 3.40% 1.37% 6.60% 3.04%
Weighted average remaining maturity 524 days 21 days 3,398 days 1,095 days

Estimated fair value of assets pledged $ 37,310 $ 1,527,766 $ 726,769 $2,291,845

As of December 31, 2002, there were no borrowings outstanding under the lines of credit

that were denominated in pounds sterling.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company’s collateralized borrowings had the following

remalning maturities:

imes @l Reveme Eollatealizey] llotal
T Lopns AQTEEINENtS Diligeions
Within 30 days $ - $ 1,457,882 $ - $ 1,457,882
31 to 59 days - - - -
Over 60 days 19189 — o 584590 703,779

$19,189 $ 1,457,882 $ 684,590 $ 2,161,661




Certain information with respect to the Company’s collateralized borrowings as of

December 31, 2001 is summarized as follows:

Lines af Rlotal ;

Creilfand Eollaleralizedil

e ;
Qutstanding borrowings $ 115,747 $1,720,191 $ 1,835,938
Weighted average borrowing rate 3.62% 1.94% 2.04%
Weighted average remaining maturity 186 days 18 days 29 days
Estimated fair value of assets pledged $173,139 $ 1,825,971 $1,999,110

At December 31, 2001, $20,356 of borrowings outstanding under the lines of credit was denomi-
nated in pounds sterling, and interest payable is based on sterling LIBOR.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company’s collateralized borrowings had the following remaining

maturities:
Lines &) jletal

jeiedifand REPIIENASE o lialcralized]

T Leans Rkeement

Within 30 days $ 58,453 $ 1,700,420 $ 1,758,873

31 to 59 days - 19,771 19,771

Over 60 days 57,094 - 57,094

$1,720,191 $ 1,835,938

115,747

Under the lines of credit and the reverse repurchase agreements, the respective lender retains the
right to mark the underlying collateral to estimated market value. A reduction in the value of its
pledged assets will require the Company to provide additional collateral or fund margin calls. From
time to time, the Company expects that it will be required to provide such additional collateral or

fund margin calls.

Note 13 — Denvative Instruments

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended, which establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts and for hedging activities. All derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships

or not, are required to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. If the derivative is designated
as a fair value hedge, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and of the hedged item attrib-
utable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow
hedge, the effective portions of change in the fair value of the derivative are recorded in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and are recognized in the income statement when the hedged
item affects earnings. Ineffective portions of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are

recognized in earnings.




The Company uses interest rate swaps to manage exposure to variable cash flows on

portions of its borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements and as trading derivatives

intended to offset changes in fair value related to securities held as trading assets. On the
date in which the derivative contract is entered, the Company designates the derivative as

either a cash flow hedge or a trading derivative.

The reverse repurchase agreements bear interest at a LIBOR based variable rate. Increases in
the LIBOR rate could negatively impact earnings. The interest rate swap agreements allow the
Company to receive a variable rate cash flow based on LIBOR and pay a fixed rate cash flow,

mitigating the impact of this exposure.

Interest rate swap agreements contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties to the
agreements do not perform their obligations under the agreements. The Company minimizes its
risk exposure by entering into agreements with parties rated at least A or better by Standard &
Poor’s Rating Services. Furthermore, the Company has interest rate swap agreements established
with several different counterparties in order to reduce the risk of credit exposure to any one
counterparty. Managernent currently does not expect any counterparty to default on their obliga-
tions. As of December 31, 2002, the counterparties for all of the Company’s swaps are Deutsche
Bank AG and Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc., with ratings of AA- and A+, respectively.

On January 1, 2001, the Company reclassified certain of its adjustable rate agency debt securities,
with an amortized cost of $64,432, from available-for-sale to held for trading. An interest rate
swap agreement with a $25,000 notional amount that had been designated as hedging these debt
securities was similarly reclassified. The unrealized gain of $895 related to the adjustable rate
agency debt securities and the unrealized loss of $2,798 related to the interest rate swap as of
January 1, 2001 were reclassified from OCI and recorded as the cumulative transition adjustment
to earnings upon adoption of SFAS 133. The net cumulative effect of adopting SFAS 133 was
($1,903) and is reflected as “Cumulative Transition Adjustment — SFAS 133” on the consolidated

statement of operations.

In addition, on January 1, 2001, the Company re-designated interest rate swap agreements with
notional amounts aggregating $98,000 that had been hedging available-for-sale debt securities as
cash flow hedges of its variable rate borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements. The fair value
of these swap agreements on January 1, 2001, with a cumulative unrealized loss of ($9,853), remained
in OCI at the date of adoption of FAS 133, and therefore, did not result in a transition adjustment.

Because of the de-designation and re-designation of the $98,000 interest rate swaps, the Company
is required to reclassify the related $9,853 recorded in OCI. Reclassification is on a straight-line

basis over the shorter of the life of the swap or the previously hedged assets and is recognized as a
reduction of interest income. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, $994 was reclassi-
fied as a reduction of interest income and $248 will be reclassified as a reduction of interest income

each quarter for the next 12 months.

In addition, on January 1, 2001, the Company re-designated interest rate swap agreements with
notional amounts aggregating $57,744 that had been hedging available-for-sale debt securities to




hedges of trading securities. These interest rate swap agreements were sold in January 2001

and the loss of $795 is included in loss on securities held for trading. As of December 31,
2000, the accumulated loss for these interest rate swaps was $3,226. This accumulated loss
is being reclassified from OCI as a reduction of income from securities available for sale
over the weighted average life of the securities these interest rate swaps were hedging on
December 31, 2000. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, $257 was reclassified
as a reduction of interest income.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had interest rate swaps with notional amounts
aggregating $791,287 that were designated as cash flow hedges of borrowings under reverse
repurchase agreements. Their aggregate fair value was a $42,667 liability included in other
liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial condition. This liability was collateralized
with cash listed as restricted cash on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial
condition. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the net change in the fair value of the

interest rate swaps was ($56,553) of which $236 was deemed ineffective and is included as a
reduction of interest expense and the gross loss of $56,769 was recorded as an increase to
other comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2002, the $791,287 notional of swaps which

were designated as cash flow hedges had a weighted average remaining term of 6.8 years.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company terminated two of its interest rate
swaps with notional amounts aggregating $290,000 that were designated as cash flow hedges of
borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements. The Company will reclassify from OCI as
an increase to interest expense the $15,968 loss in value incurred, over 3.4 years, which was the
weighted average remaining term of the swaps at the time they were closed out. For the year
ended December 31, 2002, $425 was reclassified as an increase to interest expense and $1,275

will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense each quarter for the next 12 months.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had interest rate swaps with notional amounts
aggregating $371,545 designated as trading derivatives. Their aggregate fair value at
December 31, 2002 of ($2,935) is included in other liabilities. For the year ended December
31, 2002, the change in fair value for these trading derivatives was $(1,581) and is included as
an addition to loss on securities held for trading in the consolidated statement of operations.
As of December 31, 2002, the $371,545 notional of swaps which were designated as trading

derivatives had a weighted average remaining term of 5.3 years.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had interest rate swaps with notional amounts
aggregating $682,000 that were designated as cash flow hedges of borrowings under reverse
repurchase agreements. Their aggregate fair value was a $9,343 liability included in other
liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial condition. This liability was collateralized
with cash listed as restricted cash on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial
condition. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the net change in the fair value of the
interest rate swaps was ($12,369) of which $428 was deemed ineffective and is included as
additional interest expense and $11,941 was recorded as an increase to other comprehensive
loss. As of December 31, 2001, the $682,000 notional of swaps which were designated as

cash flow hedges had a weighted average remaining term of 4.6 years. 40
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During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company terminated two of its interest rate
swaps with notional amounts aggregating $105,000 that were designated as cash flow hedges

of borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements. The Company will reclassify from OCI

as an increase to interest expense the $7,291 loss in value incurred during 2001 though the
sale date, over 8.8 years, which was the weighted average remaining term of the swaps at the
time they were closed out. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, $813 and $118
were reclassified as an increase to interest expense in the accompanying consolidated state-
ment of operations, respectively. $203 will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense

each quarter for the next 12 months.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had interest rate swaps with notional amounts
aggregating $110,000 designated as trading derivatives. Their aggregate fair value at
December 31, 2001 of ($37) is included in trading securities. For the year ended December
31, 2001, the change in fair value for these trading derivatives was $2,320 and is included as
a reduction of loss on securities held for trading in the consolidated statement of operations.
As of December 31, 2001, the $110,000 notional of swaps which were designated as trading

derivatives had a weighted average remaining term of 29.9 years.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk-management objectives and strategies for undertaking
various hedge transactions. The Company assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and
on an on-going basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. When it is deter-
mined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, the Company discontinues hedge

accounting prospectively.

In July 2000, the Company redesignated two interest rate agreements from hedging certain
of the Company’s available-for-sale securities to securities held for trading. These interest
rate agreements were redesignated in September 2000 back to hedging certain of the
Company’s available-for-sale securities. The loss in value of these interest rate agreements
during the period they were designated as trading securities was $612 and is included in gain

on securities held for trading in the consolidated statement of operations.

Occasionally, counterparties will require the Company or the Company will require
counterparties to provide collateral for the interest rate swap agreements in the form of
margin deposits. Net deposits are recorded as a component of accounts receivable or other
liabilities. Should the counterparty fail to return deposits paid, the Company would be at
risk for the fair market value of that asset. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the balance of
such net margin deposits owed to counterparties as collateral under these agreements totaled
$14,810 and $1,311, respectively.

The implementation of SFAS 133 did not change the manner in which the Company
accounts for its forward currency exchange contracts. Hedge accounting is not applied for
these contracts and they are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value included as a




component of net foreign currency gain or loss in the consolidated statement of operations.

These contracts are intended to manage currency risk in connection with the Company’s

investment in the London Loan, which is denominated in pounds sterling.

On July 22, 2002, the Company agreed to exchange £8,831 (pounds sterling) for $13,662
(U.S. dollars) on January 21, 2003. On December 17, 2002, the date the London Loan paid
off, the Company entered into a forward currency exchange contract to deliver £8,831
(pounds sterling) on January 21, 2003. The Company does not have economic exposure to
its forward currency exchange contract. As of December 31, 2001, the Company agreed to
exchange £8,831 (pounds sterling) for $12,350 (U.S. dollars) on January 22, 2002. These
contracts were intended to economically hedge currency risk in connection with the
Company's investment in the London Loan, which was denominated in pounds sterling.
The estimated fair value of the forward currency exchange contracts was a liability of $365
and $489 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which change was recognized as a
reduction of foreign currency losses. In certain circumstances, the Company may be required
to provide collateral to secure its obligations under the forward currency exchange contracts,
or may be entitled to receive collateral from the counter party to the forward currency
exchange contracts. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, no collateral was required under the

forward currency exchange contracts.

The contracts identified in the remaining portion of this footnote have been entered into to

limit the Company’s mark to market exposure to long-term interest rates.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had outstanding short positions of 3,166 five-year

and 1,126 ten-year U.S. Treasury Note future contracts, which represented $316,000 and
$112,600 in face amounts of U.S. Treasury Notes, respectively. The estimated fair value of
the contracts was approximately $(476,676), and the change in fair value related to these
contracts is included as a component of loss on securities held for trading. Additionally, the
Company had a forward LIBOR cap and with a notional amount of $85,000 and a fair value
at December 31, 2002 of $1,207 which is include in other liabilities.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had outstanding short positions of 80 thirty-year
U.S. Treasury Bond future contracts and 500 ten-year U.S. Treasury Note future contracts
expiring in March 2002, which represented $8,000 and $50,000 in face amount of U.S.
Treasury Bonds and Notes, respectively. The estimated fair value of these contracts was
approximately $(61,235) at December 31, 2001, and the change in fair value related to these

contracts is included as a component of loss on securities held for trading.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had outstanding a short position of 140 Eurodollar
futures which expire 35 in each of June, September and December 2003 and 35 in March
2004. The estimated fair value of these contracts was approximately $(32,987) at December
31, 2001, and the change in fair value related to these contracts in included as a component

of loss on securities held for trading.
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In addition, in December 2001, the Company wrote a call option on a 5-year interest rate

swap agreement with a notional amount of $400,000. The option has an expiration date of

December 2004. Proceeds received from the sale were $13,180. This transaction was entered
into to provide additional short-term rate protection in a rising interest rate environment.
The Company wrote the option to accomplish this and take advantage of the high market
value of option prices at that time. The estimated fair value of this contract was a liability of
$10,500 as of December 31, 2001, and is included in securities held for trading at a gain of
$2,680. The Company closed this position in February 2002.

Note 14 — Acquisition of CORE Cap, Inc.

On May 15, 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of CORE Cap,
Inc. (“CORE Cap”), a private real estate investment trust investing in mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities, in exchange for 4,180,552 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock and 2,261,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock. The shares of Common Stock and
Preferred Stock issued by the Company were valued at approximately $71,094 on May 15,
2000. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method. Application of pur-
chase accounting resulted in an excess of the value of the acquired net assets over the value
of the Company’s shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock issued in the acquisition,
plus transaction costs. This deferred credit totaled $9,687 and was being amortized as
described in “Negative Goodwill” (see Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements).
The operations of CORE Cap are included in the Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments from May 15, 2000. Pursuant to SFAS 142 (See Recent Accounting Pronouncements),
the Company recognized the December 31, 2001 unamortized negative goodwill balance of
$6,327 in income during the first quarter of 2002.



Note 15 — Net Income Per Share

Net income per share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.”
Basic income per share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders

by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period.

Diluted income per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of

Common Stock outstanding during the period plus the additional dilutive effect of common

stock equivalents. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options is calculated using the

treasury stock method, and the dilutive effect of preferred stock is calculated using the

“if converted” method.

Far s year eried Desemiber 37,

20024 Z00j1 L0
Numerator:
Net Income available to common shareholders
before cumulative transition adjustment $ 48,466 $ 49,210 $ 32,261
Cunuwlative transitton adjustment — SFAS 142 6,327 - -
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 133 - ~(1,903) -
Numerator for basic earnings per share 54,793 47,307 32,261
Effect of 10.5% series A senior cumulative
redeemable preferred stock - 3,420 3,232
Numerator for diluted earnings per share 54,793 50,727 35,493
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings
per share — weighted average
common shares ourstanding 46,411 33,568 23,587
Effect of 10.5% series A senior
cumulative redeemable preferred stock 7 3,993 4,082
Dilutive effect of stock options 34 ) 55 -
Denominator for diluted earnings per share
—weighted average common shares outstanding
and common stock equivalents outstanding 46,452 37,616 27,669
Basic net income per weighted average common share:
Income before cumulative transition adjustment $ 104 § 147 $ 137
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 142 0.14 - -
Curulative transition adjustment — SFAS 133 - (0.06) -
Net income $ 118 $ 1.4 $ 137
Diluted net income per weighted average common
share and common stock equivalents:
Income before cumulative transition adjustment $ 1.04 $ 140 $ 128
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 142 0.14 - -
Cumulative transition adjustment — SFAS 133 - (0.05) -
Net income $ 118 $ 135 § 128
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Note 16 — Summarized Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The following is a presentation of quarterly results of operations:

Queriers By
Marehi3;l SuneB0; 30 Bil
200220700l 200 20072 Ui 2002
Interest Income $39,351 $26,340 $38,732 $28,405 $41,754 $36,246  $42,609 $40,229
Expenses: S T T
Interest 11,640 12,272 15,474 11,665 18,836 18,341 19,068 17,123
Management fee and
other 5,983 3,135 2,775 2,951 3,083 3,381 3,009 3,268
Total Expenses 17,623 15407 18249 14616 21,919 21722 22077 20,391
Gain (loss) on sale of o
securities available for sale 4,079y 1,947 4,154 5,134 9,538 175 1,778 145
Gain (loss) on securities
held for trading 4,014 692 (11,914)  (124) (15948) 1,875  (5407) (5047)
Foreign currency (loss) gain (247) 104 18 5 (151) 91 (432) (23)
Loss on impairment of asset ® - - - (5,702) - - (10,273) -
Net income before cumulative ST ' T
transition adjustment $21,416 $13,676 $12,741 $13,102 $13,274 $ 16,483 $ 6,198 $ 14,913
Cumulative transition T T S
adjustment — SFAS 1330 - (1,903) - - - - - -
Cumulative transition
adjustment - SFAS 1420 6,327 - - - - - - -
Net Income $27,743 $11,773 $12,741 $13,102  $13,274 $16,483 $ 6,198 $14913
Dividends and accretion on
redeemable convertible
preferred stock 1,389 2,289 1,382 2,287 1,196 2,290 1,195 2,098
Net income available to T T
common stockholders $26,354 $ 9,484 $11,359 $10,815 $12,078 $14,193 $ 5,003 $12,815
Net income per share:
Basic $058 $035 $0.25 $0.33 $026 $040 $011  $033
Diluted $058 $033 $025 $032 $026 $038 $011  $031

(1) The loss on impairment of asset and the cumulative transition adjustments related to the adoption of SFAS 133 and SFAS 142 are considered by the Company to be non-recurring events




Common Stock and Market Data

The Company’s Common Stock has been listed and is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “AHR” since the initial public offering in March 1998. The
following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high, low and last sale prices in
dollars on the New York Stock Exchange for the Company’s Common Stock and the
dividends declared by the Company with respect to the periods indicated as were traded
during these respective time periods.

Bividends]
High Law [Hasi§Salel ectared
2001
First Quarter $ 9.85 $ 7.56 $ 9.65 $ 30
Second Quarter 11.08 9.29 11.05 32
Third Quarter 11.69 . 10.05 10.40 32
Fourth Quarter 11.21 9.50 10.99 35
2002
First Quarter 11.86 10.80 11.50 35
Second Quarter 13.25 11.15 13.25 35
Third Quarter 13.20 9.40 11.30 .35
Fourth Quarter 11.70 9.90 10.90 35

On March 21, 2003, the closing sale price for the Company’s Common Stock, as reported on
the New York Stock Exchange, was $11.98. As of March 21, 2003, there were approximately
877 record holders of the Common Stock. This figure does not reflect beneficial ownership

of shares held in nominee name.
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Independent Auditors” Report

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Anthracite Capital, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition
of Anthracite Capital, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) at December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stock-
holders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended
December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Anthracite Capital, Inc. and subsidiaries at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2002,
the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

-.Dcﬂulﬂ_m -—"p

New York, New York
March 21, 2003
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